


4813 South Dakota Avenue, NE

‘Washington, DC 20017
February 6, 2018

Sheila Barfield, Esq.
Executive Director _ —
District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals -
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500 2., m
Washington, DC 20014 2 ¥ o
Dear Ms. Barfield: - . l’g"g = é

4 -1y =8

. i
Enclosed is the Petition for Review filed at the District of Columbia Superior®ourt. zam ©
enclosing the original Initial Decision issued by Judge Joseph Lim which included N&ice of —
Appeal Rights.
* Thank you.

Sincerely,

b

Linda C. Sun
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PETITION FOR REVIEW OF AGENCY DECISION
(per Appendix to SCR Agency Review 1)

A.  Notice is hereby given that Linda Sun appeals to the Superior Court of the
District of Columbia from the Initial Decision (ID) of the Office of Employee Appeals
issued on the 13" day of October, 2017. A copy of the ID is attached to this petition.

Description of the ID: Initial Decision on the issues of 1) whether OEA has
jurisdiction over Employee’s untimely appeal and 2) whether this appeal should be

- dismissed.

Concise statement of the agency proceedmgs and the decision as to which
rewew is sought and the nature of the relief requested by petitioner:

. After reviewing the record, Senior Administrative Judge Joseph E. Lim, Esq.
determined that there were no material issues of fact that would require an evidentiary .
hearing. The record closed. Judge Lim found that | had established OEA's jurisdiction
over my appeal because the Office of the Tenant Advocate (OTA), respondent, failed to

provide me with any information on my OEA appeal rights at termination. Secondly,




Judge Lim determined | have had all my claims ggjuwcated on their merits in federal
court and the appeal must be dismissed on the grounds of res judicata and collateral
estoppel due to the federal court’s supplemental jurisdiction. |

| am seeking a de novo review of the OEA dismissal. The United States District
Court for the District of Columbia held | was an at-will employee. The United States
Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia ruled | was not an at-will employee. | was
a Care'er Service employee under the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act (CMPA),
entitied to due process rights.

CMPA has stipulated that for DC Government employees jurisdiction over state
law claims is governed by the CMPA. OEA itself has ruled that whistleblower claims
may be included in any relevant whistieblower violations as part of an OEA matter. In
the Matter of Jeffrey Mcinnis v. Department of Parks and Recreation, OEA Matter No.:
1601-0138-15, page 7.

As to the nature of relief, | am seeking back pay and a minétatément tomy
former or equivalent posabon
B.  Address of Respondent Agency: OTA, 2000 14th Street, NW, Suite 300 North,
Washington, DC 20009
C. Names and addresses of all other parties to the agency proceeding:

Johanna Shreve, Director, OTA, 20 00 14th Street, NW, Suite 300 North,
Washington, DC 20009;

Dennis Taylor, Esq., Supervisory Attomey Advisor, OTA, 2000 14th Street, NW,

| Suite 300 North, Washington, DC 200089.



D. | Name and address of attorney to be served:

Andrea G. Comentale, Esq., Section Chief, Personnel and Labor Relations
Section, DC Office of the Attorney General, 441 Fourth St. N.W. Suite 1180N,
Washington, D.C. 20001-2714.

E. A copy of the Initial Decision sought to be reviewed is attached to this petition.
F. Linda Sun, petitioner, pro se, 4813 South Dakota Avenue, NE, Washington, DC
20017-2728. (For communication purposes, from December 2 to December 30, 2017 |
will be traveling and will not have access to U.S. Mail or to a telephone. | can be

reached via email only.)

(202) 636-3958
lcsun8@yahoo.com

Date: November 3, 2017




THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
BEFORE

THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

In the Matter of: )
)
Linda Sun, - ) OEA Matter No. 1601-0037-17
Employee )
) Date of Issuance: October 13, 2017
‘ v. )
_ ) Joseph E. Lim, Esq.
Office of the Tenant Advocate, ) Senior Administrative Judge
en ) '
Andrea Comentale, Esq., Agency Representative
Linda Sun, Employee pro se
INITIAL DECISION

INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 7, 2017, Linda Sun (“Employee™) filed a Petition for Appeal with the Office of
Employee Appeals (“OEA”) contesting the Office of the Tenant Advocate’s (“OTA” or
“Agency”) final decision to remove her from her position as a Program Support Specialist
effective on February 21, 2012.

I was assigned this matter on June 5, 2017, after Agency submitted its Answer to
Employee’s Appeal on May 12, 2017, with a motion arguing that OFA lacked jurisdiction over
this matter. On June 6, 2017, 1 issued an order directing Employee to submit a brief addressing
whether her appeal should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. Employee submitted her
response, not just to the jurisdiction issue, but also to the substantive issues of her appeal. After
reviewing the record, I determined that there were no material issues of fact that would require
an evidentiary hearing. The record is now closed.

JURISDICTION
The Office has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 1-606.03 (2001).
ISSUES
1. Whether this Office has jurisdi_ction over Employee’s untimely appeal.
2. Whether this appeal should be dismissed.
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FINDINGS OF FACT!
1. Employee started in the real estate business in 1985.

2. The OTA was formerly a division of the DC Department of Consumer and Regulatory
Affairs (DCRA). OTA became independent of that agency on October 1, 2007. It is
classified as a subordinate agency in the District government under the administrative
control of the Mayor. The OTA works with other entities to promote better tenant
protection laws and policies in the District.

3. Employee was hired as a Program Support Specialist with the Agency effective
September 17, 2007, in position DS-301-11/4, pursuant to a Career Service appointment.

4. From September 2008 until the date Employee was summarily removed, Employee’s
immediate supervisor was Dennis Taylor (Taylor), Agency’s General Counsel.

5. Employee was never hired by Agency as a lawyer.

6. Between August 2009 and May 2011, Taylor conducted repeated trainings regarding the
unauthorized practice of law that included instructions on actions that constituted
unauthorized practice of law, advice on how to avoid the unaunthorized practice of law,
and instructions on specific actions to avoid.

7. Later, Taylor asked Employee to delete the designation “JD” from her Agency email
signature block after observing that it caused confusion among Agency’s clients.

8. On March 31, 2010, Agency issued OTA Bulletin No. 2010-001 that restricted all staff in
Employee’s position from mediation activity and attendance at Office of Administrative
Hearings (OAH) and court hearings. '

9. In 2010, Agency internally designated Program 'Support Specialists as “Case
Management Specialists,” but their status as a Career Service employee remained
unchanged. .

10. In December 2010, Employee unilaterally resumed the use of the designation “JD” in her
Agency email signature block.

11. Employee is a law school graduate but is not a member of the District of Columbia Bar
and is not admitted to practice law in any jurisdiction.

12. On December 14, 2010, Employee sent several emails to a tenant client of Agency
regarding an upcoming OAH mediation in the tenant’s case stating, “I will send you an
email with a proposal for the amount you want to ask from the landlord. You can then
send it directly to [the landlord’s attorney], with a cc to me. He will respond to you as to

! Based on the parties’ joint statement of facts, vnrefuted representations, and documents of record.
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what the LL will offer. You can then forward this email to me with your comments. I
will then give you my response. This may go back and forth a few times until both
parties agree on the amount to settle. ... I have worked like this on a couple of
mediation cases . . ..” _

13.In emails dated January 20, 2011, and January 25, 2011, Employee again offered her
assistance to the Agency client in negotiations. She further counseled the tenant client
extensively on how to handle the mediation and stated, “I will be on standby tomorrow
morning, either by phone or by email.”

14. On January 26, 2011, Employee emailed a letter that she had drafted for the tenant client
for filing in Superior Court, offering to file the letter upon approval by the tenant client.

15. On February 3, 2011, Employee advised the tenant client via email to violate a provision
of a settlement agreement that had been reached in the tenant’s case, stating, “[d]on’t
dismiss the tepant petition.”

16. On February 8, 2011, Employee continued to advise the tenant client via email by stating
“On second thought I think you need not cancel the motion to dismiss” but later stating
*“..if you like, you can cancel the motion to dismiss.”

17. On February 8, 2011, Employee called Taylor “stupid” when discussing the tenant
client’s case. ' ‘

18. On February 10, 2011, Employee informed the tenant client via email that she had called
Taylor “stupid” in connection with the tenant’s case.

19. Employee continued to advise this tenant client via email on February 10, 2011, by
providing legal language to include in a motion to withdraw the motion to dismiss, and
also advising the tenant to fire the Agency attorney assigned to the case.

20. In late 2011 or early 2012, Employee’s request for annual leave for February 24, 27, 28
and 29, 2012, for the purpose of taking the Bar exam was approved.

21. On February 11, 2012, Employee sent an email to Taylor, copying the Agency Director,
Johanna Shreve, stating, among other things, “T will be taking off the week of 20 to 24.”

22. In emails dated February 14, 2012, Agency’s Director notified Employee that 5 hours of
sick leave was approved for February 21, 2012 but that any additional leave was denied
based on the needs of the Agency.

23. On February 17, 2012, Employee sent several emails concerning her request for
additional leave to Taylor, copying the Agency Director and the Mayor, that contained
the following language: “. .. — oh, stupid me — you suggested that I should most
respectfully submit my petition to our esteemed chief tenant advocate, who has
graciously granted my petition for 5 hours. . . . — oh, there I go again, how stupid of me
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— I entreated the Honorable Chief Tenant Advocate to grant my Motion for 8 Hours
Leave of Absence for Thursday, February 23, 2012. Whew! That was close. I almost
got my head cut off.” '

24, Op February 21, 2012, Agency issued a Summary Removal Directive (Notification)
informing Empioyee that she was being summarily removed from her position of
Program Support Specialist, Grade 11, Step 6 effective February 21, 2012.

25. Employée’s Notice of Summary Removal Directive did not provide Employee with a
copy of the OEA Rules, the OEA appeal form, and notice of the right to be represented
by a lawyer or other representative, or any information regarding her appeal rights.

26. On February 24, 2012, Agency issued a Summary Removal Notice in accordance with
section 1616 of Chapter 16 of the District of Columbia Personnel Regulations, listing the
following causes for removal: :

'Advice and Preparation of Legal Documents

Count One — Misfeasance and Insubordination: Copying the Executive Office of
the Mayor with Your Disrespect of Supervisors

Count Two — Malfeasance by Unauthorized Practice of Law: Preparation of
Legal Documents

Count Three — Malfeasance by Unauthorized Practice of Law: Unauthorized
Drafting of Legal Documents

Count Four — Malfeasance by Unauthorized Practice of Law and Insubordination
by Violation of OTA Bulletin No. 2010-001: Participation in Mediation
Conducted by the Office of Administrative Hearings

Count Five - Malfeasance by Unauthorized Practice of Law: Provision of Le
Count Six - Malfeasance by Unauthorized Practice of Law: Advising a Tenant to
Fire an OTA Attorney

Count Seven — Insubordination: Disobeying a Direct Order from Your
Supervisor :

Count Eight — Malfeasance: Boasting to a Member of the Public of Your
Disrespect of a Superior

Count Nine — Unauthorized Practice of Law and Insubordination: Use of Degree
Designation “JD” in Email Signature Block

- Count Ten — Insubordination: Disobeying Repeated Direct Orders to Avoid

Practice of Law.

27. On March 21, 2012, Employee filed a Charge of Discrimination against Agency with the
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) alleging she was terminated as a
result of discrimination based on race, sex, national origin, age and retaliation.

~ 28.0On July 17, 2012, at Employee’s request, the EEOC issued a Notice informing Employee
of the right to institute a civil action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964.
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29. On or about October 22, 2012, Employee filed a Complaint in the United States District
Court for the District of Columbia against the District of Columbia, Agency’s Director
and Taylor in both their official and individual capacities. '

30. On or about November 28; 2012, Employee filed a Second Amended Complaint with
_seven causes of action:

e Count I - Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy

e Count Il - Retaliation in Violation of the District of Columbia Whistleblower
Protection Act

s Count III - Discrimination in Violation of the District of Columbia Human
Rights Act :

e Count IV — Wrongful Termination in Violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964 .

o Count V - Breach of Contract

¢ Count VI - Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

e Count VII - Assault

31. On September 30, 2015, the United States District Court denied Employee’s Motion for
Summary Judgment and granted Defendants® Motion for Summary Judgment on Counts I
through V1 of the Second Amended Complaint.? ’

32. On March 15, 2016, following a jury trial, the U.S. District Court entered a Judgment on
the Verdict for Defendant on Count VII - Assault of the Second Amended Complaint.>

33. Employee appealed the verdict on March 18, 2016.

34. On February 14, 2017, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit
issued a Judgment affirming the US District Court’s orders filed September 20, 2015, and
March 15, 2016, stating that summary judgment was proper on Employee’s Title VII, 42
U.S.C. §1981, D.C. Human Rights Act, District of Columbia Whistleblower Protection
Act, and intentional infliction of emotional distress claims. The Court further noted that
because Employee was not at-will, the common law claim of wrongful termination in
violation of public policy is unavailable and the District of Columbia Comprehensive
Merit Personnel Act provides Employee’s sole remedy.

35. On April 7, 2017, Employee filed the instant appeal to the Office of Employee Appeals
asserting that “{t]he termination of [her] employment was retaliatory and in violation of
the public policy of the DC Government.”

2Sun v. D.C. Government, et al., Civ. Action No, 12-1919, 133 F.Supp.3d 155 (2015).
* Sun v. Shreve, Civ. Action No. 12-1919, 2016 WL 2840476 (D.D.C.)(March 15, 2016).
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36. Agency’s Omnibus Response: Motions to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction, and on the
Grounds of Res Judicata and Collateral Estoppel, and, in the Alternative, for Summary
Disposition, and, in the Alternative, Answer was filed on May 12, 2017.

ANALYSIS, AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1. Whether this Office has jurisdiction over Employee’s untimely appeal.

This Office’s jurisdiction is established pursuant to the District of Columbia’s
Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act of 1978 (“CMPA”), D.C. Official Code § 1-601-01, et seq.
(2001). OEA Rule 628.2 states that “[t/ke employee shall have the burden of proof as to issues
of jurisdiction...”* Pursuant to OEA Rule 628.1, the burden of proof is defined under a
“preponderance of the evidence” standard. Preponderance of the evidence means “[t]hat degree
of relevant evidence which a reasonable mind, considering the record as a whole, would accept
as sufficient to find a contested fact more probably true than untrue.”

OEA Rule 604.2 provides that an appeal with this Office must be filed within thirty (30)
calendar days of the effective date of the appealed agency decision.’ - This Office has no
authority to review issues beyond its jurisdiction. The time limits for filing appeals with
administrative adjudicative agencies are mandatory and jurisdictional matters. See Zollicoffer v.
District of Columbia Pub. Sch., 735 A.2d 944 (D.C. 1999) (quoting District of Columbia Pub.
Emp. Relations Bd. v. District of Columbia Metro. Police Dep’t, 593 A.2d 641, 643 (D.C.
1991)). A failure to file a notice of appeal within the required time period divests this Office of
jurisdiction to consider the appeal. See Id. '

However, OEA Rule 605.1 provides that;

When an agency issues a final decision to an employee on a matter appealable to the
Office, the agency shall at the same time provide the employee with a written copy of all of the
following: ' ,

(8)  The employee’s right to appeal to the Office;
(b)  The rules of the Office;
(c)  The appeal form of the Office;

(d)  Notice of applicable rights to appeal under a negotiated review procedure;
and

()  Notice of the right to representation by a lawyer or other representative
authorized by the rules.

459 DCR 2129 (March 16, 2012).

A
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Employee was removed from her position on February 21, 2012, and filed her appeal
with OEA more than five years later on April 7, 2017. However, Employee alleges, and Agency
concedes, that the February 21, 2012, Notice of Summary Removal Directive failed to provide
Employee with a copy of OEA Rules, the OEA appeal form, and notice of the right to be
represented by a lawyer or other representative, or any information regarding her appeal rights.
The Superior Court of the District of Columbia has also held that even if an employee received a
copy of his or her appeal rights, such notice fails if the notice is ambiguous.® Consequently,
Agency cannot benefit from Employee’s seemingly untimely filed Petition for Appeal because it
failed to adhere to OEA Rule 605.1.”  Accordingly, I find that Employee has established the
Jurisdiction of this Office over her appeal. :

2. Whether this appeal should be dismissed.

Agency argues that this appeal should be dismissed on the grounds of Res Judicata and
Collateral Estoppel. Res Judicata, Latin for “a thing adjudicated,” is defined by Black’s Law
Dictionary® as, “an issue that has been definitively settled by judicial decision,” and as “an’
affirmative defense barring the same parties from litigating a second lawsuit on the same claim,
“or any other claim arising from the same transaction or series of transactions and that could have
been — but was not — raised in the first suit.” “Collateral Estoppel” is defined by the same
Black’s Law Dictionary as “the binding effect of a judgment as to matters actually litigated and
determined in one action on later controversies between the parties involving a different claim
from that on which the original judgment was based;” and “a doctrine barring a party from re-
litigating an issue determined against that party in an earlier action, even if the second action
differs significantly from the first one.” _

Agency points out that there are no material and genuine issues of fact for OEA to
decide, as all of the same claims against all of the same parties that Employee raises in this
appeal were already adjudicated on their merits in Federal Court. In Sun v. & District of
Columbia, 133 F. Supp. 3d 155 (D.D.C. 2015) (Agency Exhibit #15), aff’d, No. 16-7032 ®.C.
Cir. Feb. 14, 2017) (per curiam), Employee instituted a civil action pursuing the same allegations
that she is attempting to raise in this matter against the District, and any District employee,
supervisor, or official having personal involvement in the prohibited personnel action. Employee
brought seven causes of action:

(1) Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy,
(2) Retaliation in Violation of the District of Columbia Whistleblower Protection Act;
(3) Discrimination in Violation of the District of Columbia Human Rights Act;

- ®See Curry-Mills v. D.C. Dept. of Youth & Rehabilitation Services, Case No. 2016 CA 003190 P(MPA)
(D.C. Super. Ct. December 22, 2016).

” See Margaret Rebello v. DCPS, OEA Matter No. 2401-0202-04, Opinion and Order on Petition for
Review (June 27, 2008).

% 8t Edition 1999, .
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(4) Wrongful Termination in Violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as

(5) Breach of Contract;
(6) Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress; and
(7) Assault,

The action was adjudicated in Federal Court, which has supplemental jurisdiction under
28 U.S.C. § 1367. As noted in the Findings of Facts above, the U.S. District Court for the
District of Columbia, on September 30, 2015, denied Employee’s Motion for Summary
Judgment and granted the defendants’ (Agency, et. al.) Motion for Summary Judgment in part
and denied in part.’ '

In Sun v. D.C. Government, et al., the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia
ruled that Employee failed to prove discriminatory bias in the determination to terminate her,
holding that her argument is illogical and unsupported by the evidence in the record. Thus, the
Court granted summary judgment to defendants on the Title VII claim and the D.C. Human
Rights Act claim, Intentional infliction of emotional distress, and the whistleblower claim. The
Court also ruled that there was no breach of contract because Employee was terminated for
cause. With regard to the wrongful termination claim, however, the Court wrongly held she was
“at will.” (The parties subsequently agreed that Employee was Career Service and therefore not
an at-will employee.) Lastly, with regard to the assault claim, the Court ruled that it was for the
jury to decide, not the Court. Subsequently, the jury in Sun v. Shreve threw out Employee’s
assault claim." : ‘

On April 7, 2017, Employee filed a Petition for Appeal with OEA contesting Agency’s
final decision to remove her from her position as a Program Support Specialist, effective on
February 21, 2012. Her stated grounds for appeal are 1) summary removal; 2) conflicts of
interest of her superiors, Ms. Shreve and Dennis Taylor; 3) discrimination; 4) insufficient
evidence; 5) EEOC complaint; 6) due process; 7) retaliation; and 8) preclusion from filing
earlier.

Employee argues that res judicata and collateral estoppel do not apply in her case since
the Federal Court had wrongly held that she was an at-will employee. She claims that she did not
get a full and fair opportunity to litigate her claims, thus depriving her of due process. However,
the record belies that assertion. I note that this argument is moot as the Federal Court had
adjudicated all her claims on their merits and thus afforded her all the same procedural rights as
any Career Service employee would have, even holding a jury trial for her assault claim. The
parties in Employee’s claims, Agency and Employee, are also the parties here. Thus, the
doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel preclude her appeal.

® See Sun v. District of Columbia, 133 F. Supp. 3d 155, 172 (D.D.C. 2015) (Agency Exhibit #15), aff’d,
No. 16-7032 (D.C. Cir. Feb 14, 2017) (per curiam) (Agency Exhibit #1 2).

** Civ. Action No. 12-1919, 2016 WL 2840476 (D.D.C.)(March 15, 2016)
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In addition, D.C. Code § 1-615.56(a) clearly and unequivocally precludes her appeal to
this Office. D.C. Code § 1-615.56(a) states: ' ,,

The institution of a civil action pursuant to [D.C. Code] § 1-615.54 shall preclude
an employee from pursuing any administrative remedy for the same cause of
action from the Office of Employee Appeals ... (emphasis added).

In the instant matter, Employee has had all her claims adjudicated on their merits, Thus,
her appeal must be dismissed.

RDER
It is hereby ORDERED that Employee’s Petition for Appeal is DISMISSED.
FOR THE OFFICE:

JOSEPH E. LIM, Esq.
Senior Administrative Judge




. «

NOTICE OF APPEALS RIGHTS

This is an Initial Decision that will become a final decision of the Office of
Employee Appeals unless either party to this proceeding files a Petition for Review
with the office. A Petition for Review must be filed within thirty-five (35)
calendar days, including holidays and weekends, of the issuance date of the Initial

‘Decision in the case.

All Petitions for Review must set forth objections to the Initial Decision and
establish that:

1. New and material evidence is available that, despite due diligence, was
not available when the record was closed;

2. The decision of the presiding official is based on an erroneous
interpretation of statute, regulation, or policy;

3. The finding of the presiding official are not based dn substantial
evidence; or '

4. The Initial Decision did not address all the issues of law and fact properly
raised in the appeal.

All Petitions for Review should be supported by references to applicable -
laws or regulations and make specific reference to the record. The Petition for
Review, containing a certificaté of service, must be filed with Administrative
Assistant, D.C. Office of Employee Appeals, 955 L’Enfant Plaza Suite 2500,
Washington, D.C. 20024. Four (4) copies of the Petition for Review must be filed.
Parties wishing to respond to a Petition for Review may file their response within
thirty-five (35) calendar days, including holidays and weekends, after the filing of
the Petition for Review.

@afﬁﬁng a Petition for Review with the=Office; either . may file a
Petition for Review in the Supertor €ourt of the District of Columbia. To filera

- Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should consult
Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1.




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that the attached INITIAL DECISION was sent by regular mail
on this day to:

Linda Sun
4813 South Dakota Avenue, NE
Washington, DC 20017

Andrea Comentale, Esqg.

Section Chief

Personnel and Labor Relations Section
441 4™ St., NW Suite 1180N
Washington, DC 20001

Katrifia Hill"'
Clerk

-October 13, 2017
Date-




Rule 1. Superior Court Review of Agency Orders Pursuant to D.C. Code 1981,
Title 1, Chapter 6 :
(a) Time and manner of filing application. Unless a different time is prescribed by
statute an appeal to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia permitted by the Act,
shall be obtained by filing a petition for review with the Clerk of the Civil Division, within
30 days after service of formal notice of the final decision to be reviewed or within 30
days after the decision to be reviewed becomes a final decision under applicable statute
or agency rules, whichsver is later. The petition shall show service, in accordance with
Civil Rule 5, upon all other parties to the agency proceeding and the Office of the
Corporation Counsel of the District of Columbia. The Clerk shall designate the petition
as a miscellaneous action and affix the suffix "MPA" after the number assigned to the
case. A nonrefundable fee as prescribed in Civil Ruie 202 shali accompany the fiiing of
the petition. If two or more persons are entitled to petition for review of the same order
“or decision and their interests are such as to make joinder practicable, they may file a
joint petition and proceed as a single petitioner.
(b) Stay. A motion for stay of the agency's decision or order pending direct review in
this Court may be filed with the Clerk. The motion shall show the reasons for the relief
- requested and the facts relied upon, and if the facts are subject to dispute the motion
shall be supported by affidavits or other swomn statements or copies thereof. A copy of
the order or decision sought to be stayed shall be appended to the motion unless the
agency record has previously been filed with the Court. The Court, upon such
conditions as may seem to be required and to the extent necessary to prevent
irreparable injury, may take appropriate and necessary action to preserve the status or
rights of a petitioner or other party pending conclusion of the review proceedings. The
Court may require a party seeking a stay of the decision or order on appeal in this Court
to post a supersedeas bond on such conditions, in such amount, and with such sureties
as the Court deems necessary.
(c) Intervention. A party to the proceeding before the agency who desires to intervene
in this Court shall serve upon all parties to the proceeding and file with the Clerk 1 copy
of a notice of intention to intervene, whereupon such party shall be deemed an
intervenor without the necessity of filing a motion. Any other person who desires to -
intervene shall file a motion containing a concise statement of the interests of the
moving party and the grounds upon which Intervention is sought. The notice of intention
or motion for leave to intervene shali be filed within 30 days after the date on which the
petition for review is filed unless such time is extended by order of the Court for good
cause shown. '
(d) Content of petition for review; answer. The petition for review shall contain the
L~ information called for in the "Petition for. Review-of Agency Decision” formr available from
the Clerk, including the names of all the petitioners seeking review, and all the
respondents, together with a concise statement of the agency proceedings, the decision
sought to be reviewed, and the nature of the relief requested. In addition, a copy of the
agency order or decision sought to be reviewed shall accompany the petition.
(e) Procedure following application. Within sixty (60) days from the date of service of
petition upon the agency and the office of the Corporation Counsel, the agency shall
certify and fiie with the Clerk the entire agency record, including ail of the originai papers
comprising that record, and shall notify the petitioner of the date on which the record is




filed. The pages of the agency record shail be numbered sequentially and the
documents included listed in an index. At the expiration of thirty (30) days after the filing
of the record, or the time the record is due to be filed, whichever shall occur first, it shall
be set down for a scheduling and settlement conference and certified by the Clerk to the
judge assigned to review the case. The Court, for good cause shown, may shorten or
extend the time above prescribed. If the case is not settled, the judge assigned to
review the case shall then establish a briefing schedule for the parties. Briefs shall
conform to the requirements of Civil Rule 12-l(e) and shall include specific references to
the pages of the agency record that support the averments relied upon by the parties.
(f) [Deleted].
(9) Determination of appeal, standard of review. This Court shall base its decision
exclusively upon the administrative record and shali not set aside the action of the
agency if supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole and not clearly
erroneous as a matter of law. :
(h) Incorporation of certain civil rules. Except where inconsistent with D.C. Code 1981,
Title 1, Chapter 6 or with this Rule, the following Superior Court Rules of Civil Procedure
shall apply to proceedings under this Rule: SCR Civ 5 (Service and filing of pleadings
and other papers); SCR Civ 5-1 (Proof of service); SCR Civ 6 (Time); SCR Civ 7-
(Stipulations); SCR Civ 10 (Form of pleadings); SCR Civ 10-! {Pleadings: Stationery an
locational information); SCR Civ 11 (Signing of pleadings); SCR Civ 54-1I (Waiver of
costs); SCR Civ 63-1 (Bias or prejudice of a judge); and SCR Civ 101 (Appearance and

- withdrawal of attorneys). '

COMMENT

Paragraph (d) has been amended to make plain that a petition for review of an agency
decision is not analogous to a brief but to a notice of appeal, and to ease the burden on
petitioner who, under the current practice, must file the equivalent of a full-fledged brief
before the record itself is filed. The petition need only contain the names of the parties,
designate the precise agency order to be reviewed, and indicate briefly what the agency
proceeding concerned and the nature of the order from which judicial review is sought.
A copy of the agency order is to accompany the petition.' The petition-must be served on

v~ the agency involved with a copy to the attorney in the office of the Corporation Counsel
handling the case. The agency then has 60 days (a reasonable period that cofresponds
to current actual practice) during which it will gather together the original record, number
the pages, list each of the included documents in an index and then certify the record to
the Clerk. When the record is filed the case will be calendared for scheduling and
settlement conference before the judge assigned to review the agency decision. If the
case cannot be settled, that judge will establish a briefing schedule for the parties. In
their briefs, the parties shall designate the page or pages in the agency record where
rulings complained of or evidence referred to appear. The Court will then have before it
for decision a record and briefs similar to that presented to the Court of Appeals in
"contested cases” from administrative agencies. :




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the Petition for Review has been sent by
United States Mail, postage paid, this 6“‘ day of February, 2018 to:

Ryan Donaldson, Assistant Attorney General
¢/0 Andrea Comentale, Esq.

Section Chief

DC Office of the Attorney General
Personnel and Labor Relations Section

441 4™ Street, NW, Suite 1180N
Washington, DC 20001

Date: February 6, 2018 | ‘ W

Linda C. Sun

4813 South Dakota Avenue, NE
Washington, DC 20017
202-636-3958
lesun8@yahoo.com
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' I hereby certify that this is the true and correct official case file in the matter of Linda Sun
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Vs. C.A. No. 2018 C5:,00219

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS
INITIAL ORDER AND ADDENDUM

.E

Pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-906 and District of Columbia Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure
(“Super. Ct. Civ. R.”) 40-1, it is hereby ORDERED as follows:

(1) Effective this date, this case has assigned to the individual calendar designated below. All future filings
in this case shall bear the calendar number and the judge’s name beneath the case number in the caption. On
“filing any motion or paper related thereto, one copy (for the judge) must be delivered to the Clerk along with the

original.

(2) Within 60 days of the filing of the complaint, plaintiff must file proof of serving on each defendant:
copies of the summons, the complaint, and this Initial Order and Addendum. As to any defendant for whom
such proof of service has not been filed, the Complaint will be dismissed without prejudice for want of
prosecution unless the time for serving the defendant has been extended as provided in Super. Ct. Civ. R. 4(m).

(3) Within 21 days of service as described above, except as otherwise noted in Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12, each
defendant must respond to the complaint by filing an answer or other responsive pleading. As to the defendant
. who has failed to respond, a default and judgment will be entered unless the time to respond has been extended

as provided in Super. Ct. Civ. R. 55(a).

(4) At the time and place noted below, all counsel and unrepresented parties shall appear before the
assigned judge at an initial scheduling and settlement conference to discuss the possibilities of settlement and to
establish a schedule for the completion of all proceedings, including, normally, either mediation, case evaluation,
or arbitration. Counsel shall discuss with their clients prior to the conference whether the clients are agreeable to
binding or non-binding arbitration. This order is the only notice that parties and counsel will receive

concerning this Conference.

(5) Upon advice that the date noted below is inconvenient for any party or counsel, the Quality Review
Branch (202) 879-1750 may continue the Conference once, with the consent of all parties, to either of the two
succeeding Fridays. Request must be made not less than seven business days before the scheduling conference

date.
No other continuance of the conference will be granted except upon motion for good cause shown.

(6) Parties are responsible for obtaining and complying with all requirements of the General Order for Civil
cases, each Judge s Supplement to the General Order and the General Mediation Order. Copies of these orders

are available in the Courtroom and on the Court’s webs1te bttp://www.dccourts.gov/.

Chief Judge Robert E. Morin

Case Assigned to: Judge JOHN M CAMPBELL
Date: April 3, 2018
Initial Conference: 9:30 am, Friday, June 29, 2018
Location: Courtroom 519
500 Indiana Avenue N.W.
WASHINGTON, DC 20001

CAIO-60



ADDENDUM TO INITIAL ORDER AFFECTING
ALL MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CASES

In accordance with the Medical Malpractice Proceedings Act of 2006, D.C. Code § 16-2801,
et seq. (2007 Winter Supp.), "[alfter an action is filed in the court against a healthcare provider
alleging medical malpractice, the court shall require the parties to enter into mediation, without
discovery or, if all parties agree[,] with only limited discovery that will not.interfere with the
completion of mediation within 30 days of the Initial Scheduling and Settlement Conference
("ISSC"), prior to any further litigation in an effort to reach a settlement agreement. The early
mediation schedule shall be included in the Scheduling Order following the ISSC. Unless all
parties agree, the stay of discovery shall not be more than 30 days after the ISSC."
D.C. Code § 16-2821.

To ensure compliance with this legislation, on or before the date of the ISSC, the Court will
notify all attorneys and pro se parties of the date and time of the early mediation session and the
name of the assigned mediator. Information about the early mediation date also is available over
the internet at https://www:dccourts.gov/pa/. To facilitate this process, all counsel and pro se
parties in every medical malpractice case are required to confer, jointly complete and sign an
EARLY MEDIATION FORM, which must be filed no later than ten (10) calendar days prior to the
ISSC. D.C. Code § 16-2825 Two separate Early Mediation Forms are available. Both forms may be
obtained at www.dccourts.gov/medmalmediation. One form is to be used for early mediation with a
mediator from the multi-door medical malpractice mediator roster; the second form is to be used for
early mediation with a private mediator. Both forms also are available in the Multi-Door Dispute
Resolution Office, Suite 2900, 410 E Street, N.W. Plaintiff's counsel is responsible for eFiling the
form and is required to e-mail a courtesy copy to earlymedmal@dcsc.gov. Pro se Plaintiffs who
elect not to eFile may file by hand in the Multi-Door Dispute Resolution Office.

A roster of medical malpractice mediators available through the Court's Multi-Door Dispute
Resolution Division, with biographical information about each mediator, can be found at
www.dccourts.gov/medmalmediation/mediatorprofiles.  All individuals on the roster are judges or
lawyers with at least 10 years of significant experience in medical malpractice litigation.
D.C. Code § 16-2823(a). If the parties cannot agree on a mediator, the Court will appoint one.
D.C. Code § 16-2823(b). :

The following persons are required by statute to attend personally the Early Mediation
Conference: (1) all parties; (2) for parties that are not individuals, a representative with settlement
authority; (3) in cases involving an insurance company, a representative of the company with
settlement authority; and (4) attorneys representing each party with primary responsibility for the
case. D.C. Code § 16-2824.

No later than ten (10) days after the early mediation session has terminated, Plaintiff must
eFile with the Court a report prepared by the mediator, including a private mediator, regarding:
(1) attendance; (2) whether a settlement was reached; or, (3) if a settlement was not reached, any
agreements to narrow the scope of the dispute, limit discovery, facilitate future settlement, hold
another mediation session, or otherwise reduce the cost and time of trial preparation.
D.C. Code§ 16-2826. Any Plaintiff who is pro se may elect to file the report by hand with the Civil
Actions Branch. The forms to be used for early mediation reports are available at
www.dccourts.gov/medmalmediation.

Chief Judge Robert E. Morin

CAIO-60 -
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THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
OEFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024

Respondent.

PETITIONFOR REVIEW OF AGENCY DECISION.

A, Notice is hereby given that the District of Columbia Department on Disability Services
(hereinafter, "DDS" or "Petitioner™) appeals to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia
from the Initial Decision of the District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals (hereinafter,

"OEA" or “Respondent") dated Fe%rua.ry 21, 2018, and all rulings encompassed therein, in the

16. A copy of OEA’s Initial Decision is attached to this Petition as Exhibit 1. The Petitioner
seeks to have the Initial Decision reversed, in part, and t}_u;, final agency decision to suspend
Charis Toney (“Employee™) for a total of thirty (30) days for cause uﬁheld.

On March 7, 2016, Petitioner issued a fifieen (15) day written advance notice of a
proposal to suspend Employee for a to’;al of thirty (30) days from her position as a VR Specialist

based on three (3) charges of misconduct. On May 5, 2016, Petitioner issued the Final Decision



on the Proposed Suspension of 30 Days, sustaining the proposed two (2), fifteen (15) day
suspensions, effective May 31, 2016, for the two (2) untruthful statement charges.

Employee filed a timely appeal to the OEA on June 8, 20'1 6. Following the submission
of two (2) sets of briefs addressing several issues, an evidentiary hearing was heid on October
17,2017. The Administrative Judge (AJ) issued an Initial Decision dated Februéry 21, 2018,
upholding Petitioner’s action of suspending Employee for fifteen (15) days for Charge 2 but

V reversing the suspensibn of fifteen (15) days for Charge 1 and ordering restoration of back pay
and benefits lost as a result of that suspension,A In that regard, the AJ found that Petitioner ;iid
not establish cause with regard to Charge 1. It is from that decision that this appeal is being
made:

- B. Address of Respondent Agency:

District of Columbia Office of Empléyee Appcals
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024

Serve on: Lasheka Brown Bassey, Esq.
General Counsel
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024

-C. Names and Addresses of All Other Parties to the Agency Proceeding:

Agency: = D.C. Department on Disability Services
c/o Andrea G. Comentale, Esq.
Assistant Attorney General
441 4™ Street, NW, Suite 1180N
Washington, DC 20001

Employee:  Charis Toney
7701 Starshine Drive
District Heights, Maryland 20747



D. Names and Addresses of Parties or Attorneys to be Served:

Name

- 1. Office of Employee Appeals
(Respondent)

2. -~ Charis Toney
3. Darnise Henry Bush

Date: March 28,2018

Address

Lasheka Brown Bassey, Esquire
General Counsel
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500

~ Washington, DC 20024

7701 Starshine Drive
District Heights, Maryland 20747

2703 Shipley Terrace, SE, #4
Washington, DC 20020

Respectfully submitted,

KARL A. RACINE
Attorney General for the
District of Columbia

NADINE C. WILBURN

Chief Counsel and Senior Advisor
Personnel, Labor and Employment Division

/s/ Andrea G. Comentale

ANDREA G. COMENTALE, # 405073
Chief, Personnel & Labor Relations Section
441 4™ Street, NW, Suite 1180N
Washington, DC 20001

Ph.: (202) 724-5564

Fax: (202) 741-8872

E-mail: andrea.comentalc@dc.,‘qovv




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing Petition for Review of Agency Decision,
with attachments, was sent certified mail, return receipt requested to:

Lasheka Brown Bassey, Esquire
General Counsel '
Office of Employee Appeals

955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024

Charis Toney
7701 Starshine Drive
District Heights, Maryland 20747

Darnise Henry Bush
2703 Shipley Terrace, SE, #4
Washington, DC 20020

/s/ Andrea G. Comentale
Andrea G. Comentale
Assistant Attorney General
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Notice: This decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia Register and the
Office of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the Office Manager of any formal errors so
that this Office can correct them before publishing the decision. This notice is mot intended to provide an
opportunity for a substantive challenge to the decision.

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
' BEFORE
THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

)

In the Matter of: )
)
CHARIS TONEY, ) .
Employee ) - A
) OEA Matter No. 1601-0053-16
v. ) :
_ ) Date of Issuance: February 21, 2018
" D.C. DEPARTMENT ON DISABILITY )
SERVICES, ‘ )
Agency ) Michelle R. Harris, Esq:
. . v ) Administrative Judge
Darnise Henry Bush, Employee Representative
Mark D. Back, Esq., Agency Representative
INITIAL DECISION

INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND - -

On June 8, 2016, Charis Toney (“Employee™) filed a Petition for Appeal with the Office of
Employee Appeals (“OEA” or “Office”) contesting the D.C. Department on Disability Services
(“Agency” or “DDS”) decision to suspend her from service for a total of thirty (30) days'. On July 8,
2016, Agency filed its Answer to Employee’s Petition for Appeal.

Following a failed attempt at mediation, I was assigned this matter on September 7, 2016. On -
September 16, 2016, I issued an Order Convening a Prehearing Conference to be scheduled for -
November 8, 2016. However, upon review of that date and determining it was Election Day; the
undersigned issued a subsequent-Order on October 12, 2016, rescheduling the Prehearing Conference
for November 16, 2016. Both parties were present for the Prehearing Conference on November 16,
2016. Following that conference, on November 18, 2016, I issued a Post Prehearing Conference
Order requiring the parties to submit briefs addressing whether Agency had cause to take adverse

. action against Employee and whether the 30-day suspension was appropriate under the
circumstances. Agency’s brief was due on or before December 16, 2016, and Employee’s brief was
due on or before January 17, 2017. Briefs were submitted in accordance with the prescribed
deadlines. : :

Following a review of the briefs, I issued an Order scheduling a Status/Prehearing
Conference for March 13, 2017. Following the Status/Prehearing Conference on March 13, 2017, I

1 Two fifteen-day suspensions were levied against Employee and were served consecutively.
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issued a Post Status/Prehearing Conference Order requiring parties to address additional issues in
supplemental briefs. Agency’s supplemental brief was due on or before March 27, 2017, and
Employee’s brief was due on or before April 10, 2017. Both parties submitted their respective briefs.
Based on the review of the supplemental briefs, the undersigned determined that an Evidentiary
Hearing was warranted in this matter. As a result, I issued an Order on June 8, 2017, scheduling 8
Status Conference for June 28, 2017 for the purposes of scheduling an Evidentiary Hearing.?
Following the status conference, on June 30, 2017, I issued an Order Convening an Evidentiary
Hearing in this matter for Tuesday, October 17, 2017. The Evidentiary Hearing was held on October
17, 2017, where both parties presented testimonial and documentary evidence. Following the
Evidentiary Hearing, I issued an Order on November 1, 2017, requiring both parties to submit their
written closing arguments on or before December 1, 2017. Both parties submitted their written
closing arguments by the prescribed deadline. The record is now closed.

JURISDICTION .

The Office has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to D.C. Official Code § vl—606.03 (2001).
ISSUES

1. Whether Agency had cause to take adverse action against Employee; and
2. Ifso, whether the two fifteen (15) day suspensions were appropriate under the circumstances.
3. Whether Agency, in administering the adverse action utilized the appropriate version of -

Chapter 16 of the District Personnel Manual (“DPM”).

BURDEN OF PROOF
OEA Rule 628.1, 59 DCR 2129 (March 16, 2012) states:

The burden of proof with regard to material issues of fact shall be by a preponderance
of the evidence. “Preponderance of the evidence™ shall mean:

That degree of relevant evidence which a reasonable mind, considering the
record as a whole, would accept as sufficient to find a contested fact more
probably true than untrue. -

OEA Rule 628.2 id. states:
The employee shall have the burden of proof as to issues of jurisdiction, including

timeliness of filing. The agency shall have the burden of proof as to all other
issues.

- 20n June 19, 2017, Agency filed a Motion to reschedule the June 28, 2017 status hearing. I issued an Order on June 19, 2017
granting Agency’s Motion and rescheduled the Status Conference to June 27, 2017.
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SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY

- On October 17, 2017, an Evidentiary Hearing was held before this Office. The following
represents a summary of the relevant testimony given during the hearing as provided in the transcript
(hereinafter denoted as “Tr.”) which was generated following the conclusion of the proceeding, Both
Employee and Agency presented testimonial and documentary evidence during the course of this
matter to support their positions.

) Tr. 42-114

~ Rachel Phillips (“Phillips”) worked for the Department of Disability Services (“Agency™) as
a Human Resources and Benefits specialist. She was responsible for processing employee benefits
and was the Family Medical Leave Act (“FMLA™) and Paid Family Leave (“PFL”) coordinator.

Phillips testified that the Paid Family Leave (“PFL”) Act was provided by Agency and
offered to its employees. She explained that if an employee requested PFL, they could receive up to
three hundred and twenty hours (320) of leave, which equates to eight (8) weeks of paid benefits.
However, FMLA was unpaid and employees were required to use their own annual or sick leave
because it was due to their own medical conditions. Phillips indicated that PFL is used when an
employee is taking care of a family member, a birth of a child, adoption or foster care.

Phillips testified that when Employee requested leave, she indicated on the form that the
care was for her mother. She stated that Employee filled out the forms on November 2, 2015, and
‘requested to receive paid leave of one hundred and sixty (160) hours.

Initially, Phillips processed the request as a PFL because she thought it was for the care of
Employee’s family member. In addition, the document that Employee filled out indicated that she
would be providing care for her mother, Karen B. Toney. Phillips stated that Employee provided her
birth certificate as proof of relationship to her mother. After reviewing the medical documents
signed by Dr. Sarhan, Phillips testified that she then realized that Employee was not caring for her
mother, and that Employee was the person having surgery. :

Phillips testified that Employee contacted her via email on November 6, 2015, asking for an
update regarding her request. Phillips was out of the office the day Employee sent the email, but she
contacted Employee the day that she returned to the office. Phillips stated that in her November 9,
2015 email, she informed Employee that she anticipated having her request processed by the end of
the week. Phillips testified that Employee emailed her back stating that she was having surgery the
next day. Phillips stated that she processed the PFL form so that Employee’s request would go
through.

Phillips explained that the medical forin stated that Employee would be incapacitated from
November 10, 2015 to December 10, 2015. The documentation stated that Employee could return to
light duty on December 1, 2015. Phillips testified that, the note stated that Employee could come
back to regular duty on December 10, 2015. However, Employee came back to work on December
~ 8,2015, and submitted a return to-work note to Phillips.

Phillips stated that she relied on the documentation that she received to approve Employee
for PFL, but since she did not qualify for that type of leave, Employee needed to submit a request for
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FMLA. Employee subsequently filled out the FMLA paperwork and Phillips approvéd the letter on
November 12, 2015. She stated that Employee indicated on her application that she used sixty (60)
hours of annual leave and sixty (60) hours of sick leave.

: On February 2, 2016, Phillips stated that Agency received a return to work notice that was

signed by Dr. Rifka and dated November 30, 2015, indicating that Employee could be excused from
‘work from November 15, 2015 to December 1, 2015. After further review of the document, Phillips
testified that it  appeared that there were other changes in the documentation that Employee
previously -provided to Agency. At this time, Phillips indicated that she thought that the
documentation was altered and requested a copy from the practice/office where Employee was
treated. Phillips stated she received a fax on February 9, 2016, from the office, and that she and her
supervisor, Gria Hernandez (“Hernandez”), compared that the documentation with that previously
submitted by Employee. Phillips testified that they discovered that Employee had redacted some of
the documentation about her medical condition and diagnosis.

‘ On cross-examination, Phillips stated that when she processed Employee’s FMLA she had

only worked for Agency for two (2) months. She testified that she most likely helped Employee
- complete the necessary application form. She attested that she emailed Employee the forms needed
to submit her leave request. Phillips testified that the PFL and FMLA were the same application
forms. She explained that while she could not recall if Employee expressed to her that she did not
know how to fill out the forms, she would have assisted her in completing the forms.. Phillips was
unsure if Employee referred to PFL as Personal Family Leave.

Phillips stated that when Employee initially submitted the form, she marked the box that said .
- that she was caring for a family member. Subsequently, it was discovered that Employee was not

caring for a family member, so Phillips marked through it with a pink line. Phillips confirmed that

Employee did not state that she needed surgery. She stated that the information that was put on the

original PFL form was not the same information that went on the FMLA form. Phillips admitted that
she told Employee to make a change in the leave category because she was having the surgery.

Phillips explained that she asked Employee to submit her birth certificate to prove her relationship to

her mother because at the time, Employee submitted a request for PFL. The FMLA was approved via
a letter dated November 12, 2015. Phillips explained that it was approved after Employee’s surgery

on November 10, 2015, because she did not receive all documentation back prior to Employee taking

leave for surgery. She did not recall what information that was missing in order to process the
FMLA. : : '

_ On redirect, Phillips stated that Agency had five (5) business days to process PFL or FMLA
requests. She explained that four (4) business days transpired from November 2, 2015 and November
6, 2015, and explained that November 9, 2015, was the fifth business day. On November 9, 2015,
Phillips contacted Employee to inform her that there was a discrepancy with her form.” That was
when Phillips received the revised and completed application for FMLA. She stated that the letter
was approved on November 12, 2015. Phillips also testified that November 11, 2015, was Veteran’s
Day, a legal holiday; so she submitted and approved within two (2) days of receiving Employee’s
completed application. :

Gria Hernandez (“Hernandez™) Tr. 116-205

Gria Hernandez (“Hernandez”) testified that she has worked as a Human Capital
Administrator with Agency since January 2, 2012. Hernandez was responsible for all facets of '
Human Resources (“HR”) benefits, labor relations, employee relations, and training, She stated that
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she was the final authorizer for PFL and FMLA requests. Hernandez explained that Phillips was the
HR specialist in her division, and received the applications for PFL, FMLA, and Americans with
Disabilities Act (“ADA”). She stated that Phillips verified and validated the applications and
presented it to her with the record. Hernandez affirmed that she worked closely with Phillips and
that she reviewed and signed off on the applications that were presented to her. Hernandez stated
that the application forms could be found in their office or, if requested, emailed by Phillips.

Hernandez explained that PFL was a form of FMLA, but the benefit of PFL was to allow
employees of the District of Columbia to care for a loved one with a chronic illness or to spend time
with a newly placed foster or adopted child. She stated that an employee was entitled to receive up
to three hundred and twenty (320) hours of paid leave.

Hernandez testified that she does not automatically process applications that come in for PFL
or FMLA. She testified that if someone requested PFL for the birth of a child, Agency might submit
the application in June, but the child may not be due until October, so there would be some time
lapse in the processing of the request. She explained that once the application was verified and
deemed valid, it was Phillips’ responsibility to send the required forms to payroll.- Payroll would
subsequently load up to three hundred twenty hours onto the employee’s leave bank on PeopleSoft.

Hernandez testified that after reviewing Employee’s application, it was not clear to her if
" Employee was providing care for her mother, or if she was going to be on leave for her own health
conditions. Hernandez explained that Phillips asked her to review Employee’s application.
Hernandez indicated that the answers given on the PFL form were from a fertility clinic. Hernandez
stated that she asked Phillips if she was sure that the application was for Employee’s mother or for
herself. Hernandez testified that she had Phillips contact the doctor’s office to confirm. The doctor’s . .
office informed Agency that Employee was receiving care and that it was not her mother. Hernandez -
indicated that there was email correspondence exchanged between her, Employee, and Phillips with
regard to the documentation. Hernandez stated that Employee indicated in the November 6, 2015
email to Phillips that she was having surgery. Hernandez festified that she told Employec that she
could not use PFL for herself. .

On the form dated November 9, 2015, Employee requested time off from November 10
through December 10, 2015, for a personal health condition. She requested the use of sixty (60)
hours of annual leave and sixty (60) hours of sick leave. Hernandez stated that she allowed the
November 2, 2015 PFL Form to be approved because Agency did not want to cause its employees a
hard time, especially if they were going through a serious health condition. She explained that if they
were able to be flexible, they would work with the employee because the PFL and FMLA were
essentially the same form and questions. Further, Hernandez stated that Employee indicated on the
form and in her email that she was having surgery on November 10, 2015.

Hernandez confirmed that the FMLA application was approved on November 12, 2015. She
stated that it was approved within two (2) business days and stated that Agency generally has seven
(7) business days to approve an application. She testified that the approval letter stated that’
Employee was required to provide a return to work note. Hernandez stated that Employee returned
" to work on December 8, 2015. Hemandez testified that when the return to work note was brought to
her, it was clear that it was a copy and not an original note. Hérnandez noticed that the number

t” was written in pen. Hernandez asked Phillips to contact the doctor’s office to confirm that
the note came from their office.
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Hernandez testified that Phillips contacted the doctor’s office to speak with Dr. Sarhan, but
she was unavailable. Hernandez indicated that when they reviewed the notice, she saw Dr. Rifka’s
name and realized that Drs. Rifka and Sarhan were part of the same practice. On February 10, 2016,
Hemandez received a copy of the return to work notice from Dr. Rifka that stated that Employee was
under his professional care and excused her from duty from November 10, 2015 through December
1, 2015. Hernandez indicated that the notice stated that Employee was to return to light duty on
December 1, 2015 and regular duty on December 15, 2015. Hernandez testified that the
documentation previously received from the doctor’s office did not match this documentation that
Employee submitted. ‘

Hernandez indicated that upon review, she prepared a supervisory record citing Employee’s
abuse of FMLA and for altering the forms. Hernandez testified that on the first page, there was
language that had been redacted (white out) regarding Employee’s medical diagnosis. She also
stated that on page two of the form that Employee submitted, that it stated that she would be out from
November 10, 2015 through December 10, 2015. However, the form that was faxed over by the -
doctor’s office stated that she would be out from November 10, 2015 until November 17, 2015.

Hemandez explained that the approved FMLA form indicated that Employee was granted
leave from November 10, 2015 to December 10, 2015. She stated that Agency relied on the
certification from the doctor that Employee provided to them. Hernandez stated that at the time of
Employee’s submission, she did not believe that the forms had been altered. Further, Hernandez
explained that “no” was circled for the question asking if Employee required care on an intermittent
or regular basis. However, the documentation that Employee provided clearly depicted a markup of
the word “no.” Hernandez posited that the word “no” had been changed to “yes”.  Hernandez
testified that on February 10, 2016, she received a copy of the return to work notice from Dr. Rifka.
That form stated that Employee was under Dr. Rifka’s professional care and that she was excused
from working from November 10, 2015 through December 1, 2015. The form also indicated that
Employee was to return to light duty on December 1, 2015, and resume to regular duty on December
15, 2015.

Hemandez sfated that she also scheduled a meeting with Employee regarding the forms.
Hernandez testified that during the investigation, Employee and her representative were recorded
during an interview that was held on February 10, 2016.

(The recording was played during Hernandez's testimony. The following reflects a summary
of the events from the February 10, 2016, recorded interview). On the recording, Hernandez stated
her name and asked Employee and her representative, Damnise Henry-Bush, to identify themselves.
Hemandez informed them that the purpose of the investigation was to discuss the documentation
submitted for FMLA. In addition, Jessica Gray, Legal Relations Specialist at the Department on-
Disability Services, was present. During the investigation, Employee stated that she knew that
FMLA was Family Medical Leave Act. Employee also stated that she requested FMLA at the end of
October because she had a scheduled surgery. Employee submitted her forms to the HR department. -
Employee told Hernandez that there was an error because Phillips assumed that the request was for
her mother, but it was for Employee. Further, Employee explained to Hernandez that there was a
miscommunication because when Phillips contacted her doctor, Phillips asked the office for
information regarding her mother, and not her. Employee stated during the investigation/interview
that she filled out the FMLA form and her doctor completed his portion. Employee recalled filling
out the document that was a certification of a health care provider for famxly member’s serious health
condition.
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On the recording of the interview, Hernandez explained that Employee stated her name and
indicated on the form that she was providing care for her mother. Employee told Hernandez that she
did not understand the form and thought that because she was having surgery, the form asked her to
provide an emergency contact. Thus, Employee provided her mother’s contact information because
she would be providing care for Employee after surgery. Employee stated that she did not know who
checked the box that said she was caring for a family member because she knew that she was the one
 having the surgery and not caring for a family member.

- During the interview with Hernandez, Employee acknowledged that she requested one
hundred and sixty (160) hours of leave for November 10, 2015 through December 10, 2015.
Subsequently, Employee spoke with Phillips because she found out that her leave was not approved.
Philips asked Employee if her mother was having surgery and Employee told her that she was having -
surgery. Phillips informed Employee that she would have to use her own annual and sick leave.
Employee explained that she emailed Phillips a note from her doctor that she was returning to work

early on December 7, 2015.

Durmg the same interview, Hernandez went over two forms with Employee, one form was
typed and the other was handwritten. Employee acknowledged that the forms were the same, but that
some of the information was missing off of the form that she submitted. She explained that her -
doctor allowed her to whiteout the personal details of her medical condition. Further, she explained
that she altered her return to work date from December 1, 2015 to December 8, 2015 because she
was not well enough to return to work and received verbal consent from her doctor to alter the date
on the return to work form. Employee also stated on the recording that she did not alter the forms
that were sent to her doctor by Phillips. While Employee altered her return to work document, she
stated that she did not alter the document other than her personal diagnosis while she was out on
FMLA. (End of Summary of Recorded Interview)

After the interview, Hernandez testified that she contacted Employee’s doctor. She explained -
that she had to contact two offices because although both doctors were in the same practice, they
were in different offices. Dr. Sarhan’s office completed the FMLA form and informed Hernandez
that they do not give patients permission to alter documents. Hernandez indicated that when they
contacted Dr. Rifka’s office, they did not indicate that they gave Employee permission to change the
form. - The office informed Hernandez that they would fax over the documents that they had on file
for Employee.

Hernandez testiﬁed that Agency charged Employee with adverse action that proposed a thirty

(30) day suspension. She stated that Employee received the March 7, 2016, advanced notice of

proposed thirty-day suspension and confirmed that she was the proposing official, and that Ms.

Bonsack was the deciding official. Hernandez explained that Ms. Bonsack did not sustain all three

causes because she dismissed the Absent without Official Leave (“AWOL”) charge. Hernandez

stated that she applied the February 2016 revised District Personnel Manual (“DPM?”) in applying

Employee’s discipline because of the newly-adopted Table of Penalties®. Further, she explained that

- if Employee was reviewed under the old DPM, the penalties would have been greater and she would
have proposed termination. .

On cross-examination, Hernandez opined that Employee lied because of her demeanor. She
explained that Employee looked surprised when she pointed out the difference between the faxed
documents that Agency received from Dr. Sarhan’s office and what was previously submitted by

* The newly adopted table is called the “Table of Illustrative Actions.”
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Employee. Further, Employee continued to look at her representative Ms. Henry-Bush for help
answering the questions and asked for a break to speak with her representative privately. Hernandez
testified that it was Employee’s responsibility to fill out her portion of the FMLA form. She stated
that she made sure that Phillips explained what FMLA was when there was confusion with PFL.

- Deborah Bonsak (“Bonsack™) Tr. 207-220

Deborah Bonsack (“Bonsack™ worked as the Deputy Director for Administration for
Agency. She was also Hernandez’s supervisor. Bonsack testified that she was the deciding official -
in Employeé’s case. She issued and signed the advance notice of proposed discipline. Before
signing the May 5, 2016 Final Decision, Bonsack considered the attachments that were: provided as
part of the investigation.

Bonsack testified that based upon her review of Employee’s retum to work notice that
extended Employee’s leave until December 8, 2015, Bonsack decided that she would not sustain the
AWOL charge. However, she sustained the two allegations of false statements because it was
determined that Employee falsified information on an official record. She explained that Employee’s
conduct constituted a serious offense because she was entrusted with the distribution and decisions
regarding training, vocational rehabilitation and future funding. Bonsack stated that it was essential
to be able to trust Employee, and that falsifying any type of official documents caused concern
regarding Employee’s trustworthiness.

Bonsack indicated that she did not recall if the 2012 Table of Penalties or the February 2016

Table of Illustrative Actions were used in selecting Employee’s penalty. She did list out the Douglas

Factors in order to determine what the penalty would be. Bonsack testified that after reviewing the

_factors, although termination was an option, she believed that suspension was a reasonable

dxsmplmary measure under the circumstances. Bonsack stated that she believed that a thirty (30) day

suspenslon was severe enough to get Employee’s attentxon and correct the behavior so it would not
~ occur again. 8

On cross-examination, Bonsack testified that she based her decision on the false statements
that were made by Employee and deemed falsifying documents to be a serious offense.

Employee’s Case-In-Chief
Dr. Safa Rifka (“Dr. Rifka™) Tr. 12-39

Dr. Safa Rifka (“Rifka”) is a physician at Columbia Fertility Associates. He testified that he
provided medical care to Charis Toney (“Employee™) and gave verbal consent/permission for her to
redact her personal diagnosis from the Family Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) form in relation to her
procedure and to alter the return to work form. He confirmed that Karen Toney was not his patient.

On cross-examination, Dr. Rifka stated that he filled out the FMLA form. Dr. Rifka further
stated that he wrote the original note excusing Employee from work from November 10, 2015
through December 8, 2015. He explained that Dr. Sarhan, his partner in the practice-and Employee’s
_ surgeon, provided the return to work notice because it was customary for the surgeon to do so.
While Dr. Rifka did not provide the return to work notice, he stated that it was not unusual for the

- original physician to also provide a return to work notice.

Dr. Rifka testified that he could not recall the exact date that he gave Employee verbal
permission to alter the document that he signed which certified her time out of work as a result of her
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side effects from the surgery. Dr. Rifka explained that on November 30, 2015, he indicated that
Employee was able to return to light duty work on December 1, 2015, and released Employee to
perform regular activity on December 15, 2015. Dr. Rifka testified that the type of surgery -
Employee underwent required between two.(2) to four (4) weeks of recovery. He explained that after
November 30, 2015, Employee asked him to extend her time from December 1, 2015 to December 8,
2015, due to ongoing issues from the surgery. Dr. Rifka testified that he gave Employee verbal
permission to make that change on the form. Dr. Rifka testified that because Employee’s request was
still within the legal time frame for recovery from this type of procedure, he had no issue in
extending the time for the return to work.

: Dr. Rifka stated that he also allowed Employee to redact portions of the form in paragraph
three and Part A, “Medical Facts,” where it asks the doctor to describe other relevant medical facts
related to the condition where the patient needed care. In addition, Dr. Rifka testified thiat he gave
Employee verbal permission to redact anything private in nature that divulged the nature of her
disease. He explained that in his practice, he allows his patients to redact information that is in
violation of the privacy laws of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA™).
Dr. Rifka testified that he physically saw Employee in his office on November 24, 2015. He stated
that the next time he saw her in the office was in February 2016. Dr. Rifka explained that Employee
also visited the Bethesda office of the practice where she was treated by Dr. Sarhan, the surgeon who
performed the procedure. Dr. Rifka explained that Dr. Sarhan primarily works out of the Bethesda
office, while he is in the Washington, DC location of the practice.

Employee’s Position

Employee contends that she did not falsify any information in submitting her documents for
FMLA. Employee maintains that she was confused with regard to the formis and that due to personal
cognitive challenges she didn’t understand all the requirements of the forms.* She indjcated that on
several occasions she asked for assistance, and believed that what she provided to Ms. Phillips was
correct. Employee indicated that she received verbal permission from her doctor, Dr. Rifka, to alter
the documents with regard to her medical diagnosis and also for the return to work form that she
submitted.’ Employee contends that Dr. Rifka was her treating physician, while Dr. Sarhan only
completed the surgery. Employee asserts that she did no wrongdoing with regard to any of the forms
and believes that the thirty (30) day suspension was unwarranted.

Agéncy ’s position

Agency asserts that it appropriately administered an adverse action in this matter. Agency
contends that with regard to preparation and submission of FMLA documentation, Employeé made
(1) false statements, including misrepresentation, falsification, or concealment of material facts or
records in connection with an official matter, pursuant to Chapter 16 1605.4(b) (2); and (2) made
Jalse statements, including knowing and willfully reporting false and misleading information or
purposely omitting facts to any supervisor pursuant to Chapter 16 1605.4(f) (2).° Agency contends
that on September 24, 2015, Employee submitted a PFL form which indicated a need of 160 hours of
leave.” On the form, the care was indicated for her mother, Karen Toney. On November 2, 2015,
Employee provided Section IIT from the treating surgeon, Dr. Abba Sarhan, which reflected a leave

* Employee Petition For Appeal (June 8, 2016).

* Employee Closing Arguments (December 1, 2017),
$ Agency Closing Arguments (December 1, 2017).

7 Agency Answer at Tab 3 (July 8, 2016).
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time of November 10 2015 through December 10, 2015.% Through a subsequent email thread on
November 6, 2015 through November 9, 2015 with Agency HR Specialist Rachel Phillips and HR
Gria Hernandez, Agency determined that Employee was the actual recipient of leave for medical
‘care, and needed to fill out a- FMLA form. On November 9, 2015, Employee submitted the DC
FMLA form. This form was signed by Agency HR Speclahst Rachel Phillips on November 12, 2015

and was subsequently approved. '

Upon Employee’s return to work on December 9, 2015, Agency avers that its representatives
realized inconsistences with the documentation submitted by Employee, specifically that (1) dates
appeared to have been altered on a return to work notice and that medical information had been
redacted (with white-out) Consequently, Agency contacted the Columbia Fertility Associates
(practice that prov1ded care for Employee) directly for documentation related to Employee.
Materials received via fax on February 9, 2016, and February 10, 2016 were reviewed and were
found to be inconsisterit with documents submitted by Employee. Specifically, Agency noted that
the November 2, 2015 document reflected Dr. Sarhan’s medical incapacity section indicated an .
estimated date of November 10, 2017 through November 17, 2017. Further, Agency noted that the
November 30, 2015 return to work form received had a return to work date of December 1, 2015.

~ Following these events, Agency asserts that it began its investigative process. Agency avers
that Employee had redacted information in Section III, the dates for leave were November 10, 2015
through December 10, 2015, and the return to work date was December 8, 2015. Agency argued that
it appeared Employee had used white out and had written over the date in altering these documents.
.Agency asserts that Employee maintained that she had some confusion in filling out the forms, and
claimed that she received verbal consent from her doctor to alter the forms. Following the
investigation, Agency proposed suspension for a total of thirty days®, charging employee with two
charges of false statements pursuant to DPM §1605.4(b)(2) and §1605.4(b)(4), and unauthorized
absence of five workdays or more, pursuant DPM §1605.4(£)(2). In a Final Agency Action dated
May 5, 2016, the hearing officer sustained the two charges of false statement but dismissed the
AWOL charge because of receipt of return to work dated February 29, 2016. The hearing officer
noted that she was unpersuaded by Employee’s claim that she had receives verbal consent to alter the
forms: As a result, Agency susperided Employee for two (2) fifteen (15) day periods to be served
consecutively, efféctive May 31,2016,

Agency avers that it con51dered all the relevant Douglas factors in making its determination
with regard to assessing the penalty in this matter. Agency also contends that it appropriately utilized
the DPM Chapter 16 (“2016 DPM”) that was made effective February 5, 2016 (versus the DPM that
was effective as of July 13, 2012, hereinafter noted as “2012 DPM”), because in this instance, they
were not aware of the misconduct until the DPM 2016 was effectuated and also because the
bargaining umt (ASFMCE) that Employee was a part of had already engaged in impacts and effects
bargammg However, Agency notes that if OEA disagrees and finds that the incorrect version was

e

% Thirty days were compnsed of two fifteen day suspensions to be served consecutively.

19 Employee’s Petition for Appeal at Final Agency Notice (June 8, 2017). )

1 Agency’s Closing Arguments at Page 17. (December 1, 2017). It should be noted that Agency in making this argument
provided no subsequent documentation, the CBA or otherwise, that would substantiate this assertion. Rather, Agency relied on
the testimony provided by Ms. Gria Hernandez during the Evidentiary Hearing on October 17, 2017.
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used (which it does not conceded) that it would resu]t in harmless procedural error since the penalty
-range would be the same.!* | '

'FINDING OF FACTS, ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Employee is employéd by Agency as Vomtxonal Rehabilitation Specialist, with the DDS
Rehabilitation Services Administration (“RSA™). B In a final agency action notice referred to as the
“Final Decision on the Proposed Suspension of 30 Days”, dated May 5, 2016, Employee received
final notice of Agency’s decision to suspend her without pay for a total of thirty (30) days (two
fifteen day suspensions to be served consecutively) from her position for violation of Chapter 16 of
DPM §1605.4(b)(2)—"False statements, including: misrepresentation, falsification, or concealment
of material facts or records in connection with an official matter; (2) DPM § 1605.4 (b)(4) - “False
statements, including: knowingly and willfully reporting false or misleading information or
purposely omitting material facts to any superior.” The effective date of the suspension was May 31,
2016.1 '

ANALYSIS
Appropriate Version of DPM

_ In an Order dated March 13, 2017, the undersigned required the parties to address whether
~ Agency, in administering the adverse action against Employee utilized the appropriate version of the
District Personnel Manual (“DPM?”) in administering the instant adverse action. Specifically, parties
were to address whether the DPM Chapter 16 version effective as of August 2012" or February
2016 should be apphcable to this action. Employee proffered that Agency did not use the
appropriate code version. Employee asserted that Agency used the rules punitively and did not use
the “correct choice in the cause of action.!”

Agency asserted that its adverse action was properly guided by and assessed under the
February 2016 (“2016 DPM”) version of DPM Chapter 16. Agency argued that its assessment was
done appropriately under the 2016 DPM citing that, “notwithstariding the general rule that a statute
should not be applied retroactively absent clear legislative intent, the Agency applied the 2016
version of DPM Chapter 16 in these circumstances because the latest version of the regulations did
not change the legal consequences of Employee’s various behaviors between September 2015 and
February 2016.”'® Further, the Agency cites that they “were not even aware of the misconduct for
which adverse action was taken until on or after February 9, 2016, and the adverse action was -
initiated by Agency after the regulations became effective.” Additionally, Agency argues that, “DDS
apphed the correct version of the District Personnel Manuel Chapter 16 effective, February 6, 2016,
in recommending and taking corrective action because Ms. Toney is a2 member of the collective
bargaining unit (“AF SCME”) that had already engaged in impacts and effects bargaining.”"® Further,

12 Id
13 .- Employee’s Petifion for Appeal (June 8, 2016).
4 Employee was sise charged with violating DPM § 1605.4(f) (2) - “Unauthorized absence of five (5) workdays or more.”
Howgevr, the hearing officer fesStinded that charge in the final action.
15 DPM Chapter 16 effestive July 13, 2012, as reflected by the August 26, 2012  Transmittal Date:
S pPM Chapter 16 effective Fébruary 5, 2016, asreflected by the February 26, 2016 Trmmmlual Date
17 Employee’s Legal Brief (April 10, 2017).
'* Agency’s Supplemental Brief'at Page 4 (March 27, 2017).
1 Agency Closing Arguments at Page 17 (December 1, 2017).
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Agency contends that Employee’s “affirmative” conduct that resulted in the instant adverse action
took place between September 2015 and December 2015.%°

Agency asserts that the “balance of the affirmative conduct”, occurred after the effective date
(February 5, 2016) for the 2016 DPM.?! Agency also avers that they were not aware of Employee’s
. misconduct until they found discrepancies in documentation submitted by Employee following a

facsimile communication received from Employee’s treating physician on February 9, 2016.
Consequently, Agency argues that it did not provide its Notice of Proposed Adverse action until
March 6, 2016, and the final decision was not delivered to Employee until May 5, 2016. As a result,
Agency argues that under these circumstances it was appropriate to use the 2016 DPM version in
administering this adverse action. Lastly, Agency argues that assuming arguendo that they did
utilize the incorrect version of the DPM (which it does not concede that they did) in administering
the instarit adverse action that procedurally, the application of either version of DPM Chapter 16
~would have:resulted in the same adverse action and would constitute harmiléss procedural error.”?

The District Personnel Manual regulates the manner in which agencies in the District of
Columbia administer adverse and corrective actions. The 2012 DPM version was effective as of Julzy
13, 2012, and was effective until the 2016 DPM version was made effective on February 5, 2016.%
Consistent with the findings of the U.S. Supreme Court, OEA has held that there is a presumption in
which the “legal effect of one’s conduct should be assessed under the law that existed when the
conduct took place.”* Further, OEA has noted that “the presumption against statutory retroactivity
has consistently been explained by a reference to the unfairness of imposing new burdens on people
after the fact.”*® Here, Agency recognized upon Employee’s return to work on December 9, 2015,
that there were potential discrepancies in FMLA documentation submitted by Employee. Agency
does not provide any reasoming as to why it was not until February 9, 2016, that subsequent .
documentation was requested from the treating physicians’ office to confirm their suspicions. A
subsequent investigative. interview was held ‘on February 11, 2016, wherein Agency maintains that
Employee submitted false statements as well. The undersigned finds that upon review of the record
Agency improperly used the 2016 DPM given that it was not made effective until February 5, 2016.
The actions for which Employee was charged occurred in September 2015 through December 2015,
with only one additional instance during a period of investigation in which false statements were
alleged.

However, given that the Table of Penalties (2012 DPM)? and the Table Illustrative Actions
(DPM 2016)* reflect the same range for penalties for this cause of action, I find that Agency’s error
constituted harmless procedural error pursuant to OEA Rule 631.3. The range of penalties for these
causes of action in comparing the 2012 DPM Table of Appropriate Penalties (“TAP”) and the 2016
DPM Table of [llustrative Actions (“TIA”), reflect similar penalty ranges. Under TAP, a first offense

20 Agency’s Supplemental Brief at Page (March 27, 2017).

! Id, at Page 6. . : .

Z Agency Supplemental Legal Brief at Page 4 and 8, citing Recio v. DC Alcoholic Beverage Conirol Bd., 75 A.2d 136, 140 (D.C.
2013); and Monrgomery c. District of Columbia, 598 A.2d 163,166 (D.C: 1991). (March 27, 2017).

* Transmittal Date reflects as of August 27, 2012 for the 2012 DPM Version, and the 2016 Transmittal Date is as of February 26,
g . N -

% Dana Brown v. Department of Youth Rehabilitation Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0036-07 Opinion and Order on Petition -
for Review (March 10; 2010). ’ : :

*1d.

7 6-B DCMR §1619.1 (6), Table of Appropriate Penalties (2015).

% DPM §1607.2(b) (2016)
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for violation of DPM §1603.3(c), and DPM §1603.3(f) (6)%° both range of Suspension for 15 Days.*

The penalty in the TIA reflects that a first occurrence for false statements in connection DPM §

1605.4(b)(2), is reprimand to removal, and for §1605.4(b)(4), the range is a seven day (7) suspension

to removal. Wherefore, the undersigned finds that Agency’s assessment of the fifteen (15) day

penalty for each charge fell into the range of penalties under both versions of the DPM. Thus, the

undersigns find that while Agency improperly utilized the 2016 DPM given that misconduct occurred

at the time the 2012 DPM was effective, that this error did not cause “substantial harm or prejudice”.
to Employee, and did not affect its final decision to take action in the instant matter.

Whether Agency had cause for adverse action

Title 1, Chapter 6, Subchapter VI of the D.C. Official Code (2001), a portion of the
Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act, sets forth the law governing this Office. D.C. Official Code §
1-606.03 reads in pertinent part as follows:

(a) An employee may appeal a final agency decision affecting a
performance rating which results in removal of the employee
(pursuant to subchapter XIII-A of this chapter), an adverse action for
cause that results in removal, reduction in force (pursuant to
subchapter XXIV of this chapter), reduction in grade, placement on
enforced leave, or suspension for 10 days or more (pursuant to
subchapter XVI-A of this chapter) to the Office upon the record and
pursuant to other rules and regulations which the Office may issue.
(Emphasis added). -

Additionally, DPM § 1603.2 provides that disciplinary actions may only be taken for cause.
Pursuant to OEA Rule 628.2, 59 DCR 2129 (March 16, 2012), Agency has the burden of proof by a
preponderance of the evidence that the proposed disciplinary action was taken for cause. Employee
was assessed two (2) fiftéen days suspensions pursuant to: DPM § 1605.4(b)(2) — “False statements,
including misrepresentation, falsification, or concealment of material facts or records in connection
with an official matter.”; and DPM 1605.2(f)(2) —False statements, including knowing and willfully
reporting false and misleading information or purposely omitting facts to any supervisor.”

Charge 1- DPM § 1605.4(b) (2) — “False statements, including misrepresentation, falsification,
or concealment of material facts or records in connection with an official matter.”

OEA has held, that to sustain a falsification charge, that ;‘agency must prove by preponderant
evidence that employee knowingly su?plied incorrect information with the intention of defrauding,
deceiving or misleading the agency.”’ In sustaining the aforementioned charge upon Employee,

.. ® DPM §1603.3(c)y— “Any knowing or negligent material rnisrepresentation on other document given to government agency;
DPM §1603.3(f) (6) — Any on-duty or employment-related act or omission that interfere with the efficiency and integrity of

government — misfeasance.” Misfeasance, as described by the DPM includes: careless work performance, failure to investigate a

complaint, providing misleading or inaccurate information to superiors; dishonesty; unauthorized uses of government resources;

using or authorizing the use of government resources for other than official business. The undersigned relies on this comparison

of the DPM because Agency relied on these causes of actions in its Supplement Brief submitted on March 27, 2017.

3 6.B DCMR §1619.1 (6), Table of Appropriate Penalties (2015).

31 John J. Barbudsin v Department of General Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0077-15 (March 1, 2017), citing Haebe v.

Department of Justice, 288 F.3d 1288 (Fed. Cir. 2002); Guerrero v. Department of Veteran Affairs, 105 M.S.P.R. 617 (2007);.

See also Raymond v. Department of the Army, 34 M.S.P.R. 476 (1987). . ‘
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Ageney considered and was ultimately “unpersuaded”, with “Employee’s assertion that she had
verbal permission to alter the parts of FMLA form or return to work notice.”* Agency determined
that the charge should be sustained because-of Employee’s admittance of “whiting out” and changirig
the forms on two (2) previous occasions® However, during the Evidentiary Hearing held in this
matter on October 17, 2017, Dr. Safa Rifka, Employee’s physician, corroborated Employee’s
- assertions, as he confirmed that he provided Employee with verbal consent to extend her return to
work until December 8, 2015; and that he gave permission to redact any items that may violate
Employee’s privacy protections.®* Without going into the personal and private nature of Employee’s
condition, the doctor explained that the type of procedure Employee underwent could result in up:to
‘four (4) weeks of recovery time.?® Further, Dr. Rifka explained that any patient had the right'to
‘redact any information of a private nature and that he gave verbal permission to Employee to redact
private infortmation.?

During the course of the Evidentiary Hearing, I had the opportunity to listen to the testimony
provided by Dr. Rifka and found his testimony to be credible. Further, the undersigned finds- it
significant that Agency rescinded the charge of AWOL once it received confirmation in February
2016 that Employee’s return to work date was in fact extended until December 8, 2015.” The
- undersigned finds that this also supports Employee’s claim that she had verbal permission to alter the
return to work form to reflect December 8, 2015. In assessing this adverse action, Agency
maintained it was unpersuaded by Employee’s claims of having received verbal consent from her
physician. Upon consideration of the aforementioned findings and the documentary and testimonial
evidence set forth in the record, I find that Agency has not met its burden of proof by a
preponderance of evidence with regard to this cause of action.

. Charge 2 -DPM 1605.2(f) (2) —“False statements, including knowingly and willfully reporting
false and misleading information or purposely omitting facts to any supervisor.”

In considering this cause of action, Agency again attested that it was unpersuaded by
Employee’s assertion that she received verbal consent to alter the documents. Specifically, Agency
cited that Employee provided false statements to Ms. Hernandez, during the course of the internal
investigation. Agency noted that this charge was distinguished with regard to the changes made in
the “medical incapacity” section of the form. Agency found that Employee changed the document
that was signed by Dr. Sarhan (surgeon) on November 2, 2015. In particular, Agency cited that the
document received on February 9, 2016 from Dr. Sarhan reflected the estimated medical incapacity
as November 10, 2015 through November 17, 2015. Employee’s submissions of these same

" documents contained a medical incapacity date of November 10, 2015, through December 10, 2015.
Upon consideration of the record, the undersigned finds that there is not substantive evidence to
support Employee’s claim that she was given the verbal consent to change the medical incapacity
date in the forms. Further, the medical incapacity listed in the documentation submitted by Employee
in November 2015, does not correspond with the medical record that bears the same signature date
(November 2, 2015) that was received by fax directly from the office on February 9, 2016.
Consequently, the undersigned finds that Agency has met its burden by preponderant evidence and
has adequately proven that there was cause for action with regard to this charge.

. :: Agency Answer at Page 8 (July 8, 2016).
Id
" 34 See, Evidentiary Hearing Transcript (Tr.) held October 17, 2017 at Pages 13, 22-37.
35 Jd. at page 26.
3 Id. at Page 30
37 Received in accordance with directive in Final agency Action and was signed by the surgeon, Dr. Abba Sarhan.
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Whether the Penalty was Appropriate

Based on the aforementioned findings, I find that Agency’s action with regard to the charge
of false statements pursuant to DPM 1605.2(f) (2) —“False statements, including knowingly and
willfully reporting false and misleading information or purposely omitting facts to any supervisor”
was taken for cause, and as such Agency can rely on this charge in its assessment of disciplinary
‘actions agairist Employee. In determining the appropriateness of an agency’s penalty, OEA has
‘relied on Stokes v. District of Columbia, 502 A.2d. 1006 (D.C. 1985).3®8 Accordmg to the Court in
Stokes, OEA must determine whether the penalty was in the range allowed by law, regulatxon and
any applicable Table of Penalties as prescribed in DPM 1619.1; whether the penalty is based on a
consideration of relevant factors and whether there is a clear error of judgment by agency. Further,
“the primary responsibility for managmg and dxsclplmmg Agency s work forée is a rtter entrusted
to the Agency, not this Office.”® Therefore when assessing the- appropnateness .of a penalfy, this
Office is not to substitute its judgment for that of the Agency, but 1s simply to ensure that
“managerial discretion has been legitimately invoked and properly exercise.”

Agency relied on what it considered relevant factors outlined in Douglas v. Veterans-
Administration, 5 M.S.P.R. 313 (1981), in reaching its decision to suspend Employee from service.*
Further, Chapter 16 § 1607.1(b)(2)(4) of the District Personnel Manual Table of Illustrative Actions

38 Shairrmaine Chittams v. D.C. Department of Motor Vehicles, OEA Matter No. 1601-0385-10 (March 22, 2013). See also
Anthony Payne v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0054-01, Opinion and Order on Petition for
Review (May 23, 2008); Dana Washington v. D.C. Department of Corrections, OEA Matter No. 1601-0006-06, Opinion and
Order on Petition for Review (April 3, 2009); Ernest Taylor v. D.C. Emergency Medical Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0101-
02, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (July 21, 2007); Larry Corbett v. D.C. Department of Corrections, OEA Matter
No. 1601-0211-98, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (September 5, 2007); Monica Fenton v. D.C. Public Schools, OEA
Matter No. 1601-0013-05, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (April 3, 2009); Robert Atcheson v. D.C. Metropolitan
Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0055-06, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (October 25, 2010); and
Christopher Scurlock v. Alcoholic Beverage Regulation Administration, OEA Matter No. 1601-0055-09, Opinion and Order on
Petition for Review (October 3, 2011).

3 See Huntley v. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0111-91, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review
{March 18, 1994); Hutchinson v. District of Columbia Fire Department, OEA Matter no. 1601-0119-90, Opinion and Order on
Petition for Review (July 2, 1994).

40 Stokes v. District of Columbia, 502 A.2d 1006 (D.C. 1985).

" Douglas v. Veterans Administration, 5 M.SP.R. 313 (1981). The Douglas factors provide that an agency should consider the
following when determining the penalty of adverse action matters:

1) the nature and seriousness of the offense, and it’s relation to the employee’s duties, position, and mponmbxhties
including whether the offense was intentional or technical or inadvertent, or was commxtted maliciously or for gain, or
was frequently repeated;

2) the employee’s job level and type of employment, including supervisory or fiduciary role, contacts with the public, and

' prominence of the position; '

3) the employee’s past disciplinary record;

4)  the employee’s past work record, including length of service, pcrfoxmancc on the job, ability to get a.long with fellow
workers, and dependability;

- 5) the effect of the offense upon the employee’s ability to perform at a satisfactory level and its effect upon supervisors’
confidence in employee’s ability to perform assigned duties;

6) consistency of the penalty with those imposed upon other employees for the same or similar offenses;

7) consistency of the penalty with any applicable agency table of penaities;

8) the notoriety of the offense or its impact upon the reputation of the agency;

9) the clarity with which the employee was on notice of any rules that were violated in comumitting thc offense, or had
been warned about the conduct in question;

10) potential for the employee’s rehabilitation;

11) mitigating circumstances surrounding the offense such as unusual job tensions, personahty problems, mental
impairment, harassment, or bad faith, malice or provocation on the part of others involved in the matter; and

12) the adequacy and effectiveness of alternative sanctions to deter such conduct in the future by the employee or others.
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(“TIA”) provides that the appropriate penalty for a first occurrence for a charge of v1olat1ng DPM
1604.5(b)(4) ranges from “7-day Suspension to Removal.”*? Wherefore, the undersigned finds that
Agency properly exercised its discretion and its chosen penalty of a fifteen (15) suspension is
reasonable under the circumstances and not a clear error of judgement.

With regard to the false statements charge pursuant to DPM §1605 4(b)(2); the undersigned

- finds, for the reasons previously cited, that Agency did not meet its burden to establish a cause for

adverse action for “False statements, including misrepresentation, falsification, or concealment of

material facts or records in connection with an official matter.” As a result, I find that the penalty of

the fifteen (15) day suspension was not appropriate. Consequently, I conclude that Agency s action
should be upheld, in part, and reversed in part.

ORDER
Based on the foregoing it is hereby ORDERED that:

1. Agency’s action of suspending Employee from service for fifteen (15) days with
regard to Charge 2 is hereby UPHELD.

2. Agency’s action of suspending Employee from service for fifteen (15) days with
regard to Charge 1 is hereby REVERSED; and Agency shall reimburse employee all
pay and benefits lost as a result of this suspension.

3. Agency shall file within thirty (30) days from the date this decision becomes final,
documents evidencing compliance with the terms of this Order.

FOR THE OFFICE:

Administrative Judge ‘

“2 Table of Ilustrative Actions 2016. It should be noted that under the 2012 DPM Table of Appropriate Penalties (“TAP"), the
penalty for this cause of action on a first offense is Suspension for 15 days see Chapter 16 §1619.1.



NOTICE OF APPEALS RIGHTS .

This is an Inijtial Decision that will become a final dec151on of the Office of
Employee Appeals unless either party to this proceeding files a Petition for Review
with the office. A Petition for Review must be filed within thirty-five (35)
calendar days, including holidays and weekends, of the issuance date of the Initial

Decision i in the case.

All Petitions for Review must set forth obJ ections to the Initial Decision and
establish that:

1. New and material 'evidence is available that, despite due diligence, was
not available when the record was closed;

2. The decision of the presiding official is based on an erroneous
mterpretatlon of statute, regulation, or policy;

3. The- ﬁndmg of the pres1dmg official are not based on substantial
eV1dence, or

4. The Initial Decision did not address all the issues of law and fact properly
raised in the appeal.

" All Petitions for Review should be supported by references to applicable
laws or regulations and make specific reference to the record. The Petition for
Review, containing a certificate of service, must be filed with Administrative
Assistant, D.C. Office of Employee Appeals, 955 L’Enfant Plaza Suite 2500,
Washington, D.C. 20024. Four (4) copies of the Petition for Review must be filed.
Parties wishing to respond to a Petition for Review may file their response within
thirty-five (35) calendar days, including holidays and weekends, after the filing of
- the Petition for Review. o

Instead of filing a Petition for Review with the Office, either party may file a
Petition for Review in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. To file a
Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should consult
Swuperior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1.
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Notice: This decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia Register and the
Office of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the Office Manager of any formal errors 50 .
that this Office can correct them before publishing the decision. This notice is not intended to provide an
opportunity for a substantive challenge to the decision. -

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
‘ BEFORE
THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

In the Matter of:

)
)
CHARIS TONEY, )
Employee )
) OEA Matter No. 1601-0053-16
V. ) .
' ) Date of Issuance: February 21, 2018
D.C. DEPARTMENT ON DISABILITY )
SERVICES, . . ) ' ,
Agency ) Michelle R. Harris, Esq.
) Administrative Judge
Darnise Henry Bush, Employee Representative
Mark D. Back, Esq., Agency Representative
INITIAL DECISION

INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

' On June 8, 2016, Charis Toney (“Employee”) filed a Petition for Appeal with the Office of
Employee Appeals (“OEA” or “Office”) contesting the D.C. Department on Disability Services
(“Agency” or “DDS”) decision to suspend her from service for a total of thirty' (30) days'. On July 8, -
2016, Agency filed its Answer to Employee’s Petition for Appeal. .

Following a failed attempt at mediation, I was assigned this matter on September 7, 2016. On
September 16, 2016, I issued an Order Convening a Prehearing Conference to be scheduled for
November 8, 2016. However, upon review of that date and determining it was Election Day; the
undersigned issued a subsequent Order on October 12, 2016, rescheduling the Prehearing Conference
for November 16, 2016. Both parties were present for the Prehearing Conference on November 16,
2016. Following that conference, on November 18, 2016, I issued a Post Prehearing Conference
Order requiring the parties to submit briefs addressing whether Agency had cause to take adverse

-action against Employee and whether the 30-day suspension was appropriate under the
circumstances. Agency’s brief was due on or before December 16, 2016, and Employee’s brief was

due on or before January 17, 2017. Briefs were submitted in accordance with the prescribed
deadlines.

Following a review of the briefs, I issued an Order scheduling a Status/Prehean'ng-
Conference for March 13, 2017. Following the Status/Prehearing Conference on March 13, 2017, I

! Two fifteen-day suspensions were levied against Em’ploy& and were served consecutively.
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issued a Post Status/Prehearing Conference Order requiring parties to address additional issues in
supplemental briefs. Agency’s supplemental brief was due on or before March 27, 2017, and
Employee’s brief was due on or before April 10, 2017. Both parties submitted their respective briefs.
- Based on the review of the supplemental briefs, the undersigned determined that an Evidentiary
Hearing was warranted in this matter. As a result, I issued an Order on June 8, 2017, scheduling a
Status Conference for June 28, 2017 for the purposes of scheduling an Evidentiary Hearing?
Following the status conference, on June 30, 2017, I issued an Order Convening an Evidentiary
Hearing in this matter for Tuesday, October 17, 2017. The Evidentiary Hearing was held on October
17, 2017, where both parties presented testimonial and documentary evidence. -Following the
‘Evidentiary Hearing, I issued an Order on November 1, 2017, requiring both parties to submit their
written closing arguments on or before December 1, 2017. Both parties submitted their written
closing arguments by the prescribed deadline. The record is now closed.

JURISDICTION
“The Office has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 1-606.03 (2001).
| ISSUES

1. Whether Agency had cause to take adverse action against Eniployee; and
2. If so, whether the two fifteen (15) day suspensions were appropriate under the circumstances.
3. Whether Agency, in administering the adverse action utilized the appropriate version of -

Chapter 16 of the District Personnel Manual (“DPM”). '

BURDEN OF PROOF
OEA Rule 628.1, 59 DCR 2129 (March 16, 2012) states:

The burden of proof with regard to material issues of fact shall be by a preponderance
of the evidence. “Preponderance of the evidence” shall mean: '

That degree of relevant evidence which a reasonable mind, considering the
record as a whole, would accept as sufficient to find a contested fact mere
- probably true than untrue. '

OEA Rule 6282 id. states:

The émployee shall have the burden of proof as to issues of jurisdiction, including
!imeliness of filing. The agency shall have the burden of proof as to all other
1ssues. ‘ A

20n 'June 19,2017, Agfncy filed a Motion to reschedule the June 28, 2017 status hearing. I issued an Order on June 19, 2017
granting Agency’s Motion and rescheduled the Status Conference to June 27, 2017.
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SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY

- On October 17, 2017, an Evidentiary Hearing was held before this Office. The following
represents a summary of the relevant testimony given during the hearing as provided in the transcript
(hereinafter denoted as “Tr.”) which was generated following the conclusion of the proceeding. Both
Employee and Agency presented testimonial and documentary evidence during the course of this
matter to support their positions. '

Agency’s Case-In-Chief
Rache] Phillips (“Phillips™) Tr. 42-114

Rachel Phillips (“Phillips™) worked for the Department of Disability Services (“Agency”) as
a Human Resources and Benefits specialist. She was responsible for processing employee benefits
and was the Family Medical Leave Act (“FMLA™) and Paid Family Leave (“PF L") coordinator.

Phillips testified that the Paid Family Leave (“PFL”) Act was provided by Agency. and .
offered to its employees. She explained that if an employee requested PFL, they could receive up to
three hundred and twenty hours (320) of leave, which equates to eight (8) weeks of paid benefits.
However, FMLA was unpaid and employees were required to use their own annual or sick leave
because it was due to their own medical conditions. Phillips indicated that PFL is used when an
employee is taking care of a family member, a birth of a child, adoption or foster care.

Phillips testified that when Employee requested leave, she indicated on the form that the
care was for her mother. She stated that Employee filled out the forms on November 2, 2015, and
requested to receive paid leave of one hundred and sixty (160) hours.

Initially, Phillips processed the request as a PFL because she thought it was for the care of
Employee’s family member. In addition, the document that Employee filled out indicated that she
~ would be providing care for her mother, Karen B. Toney. Phillips stated that Employee provided her
‘birth certificate as proof of relationship to her mother. After reviewing the medical documents "
signed by Dr. Sarhan, Phillips testified that she then realized that Employee was not caring for her -
mother, and that Employee was the person having surgery. :

Phillips testified that Employee contacted her via email on November 6, 2015, asking for an
update regarding her request. Phillips was out of the office the day Employee sent the email, but she
. contacted Employee the day that she returned to the office. Phillips stated that in her November 9,
2015 email, she informed Employee that she anticipated having her request processed by the end of
the week. Phillips testified that Employee emailed her back stating that she was having surgery the
next day. Phillips stated that she processed the PFL form so that Employee’s request would go
through. - -

Phillips explained that the medical form stated that Employee would be incapacitated from
November 10, 2015 to December 10, 2015. The documentation stated that Employee could return to
light duty on December 1, 2015. Phillips testified that, the note stated that Employee could come
back to regular duty on December 16, 2015. However, Employee came back to work on December -
8, 2015, and submitted a return to' work note to Phillips. :

Phillips stated that she relied on the documentation that she received to approve Employee -
for PFL, but since she did not qualify for that type of leave, Employee needed to submit a request for
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FMLA. Employee subsequently filled out the FMLA paperwork and Phillips approved the letter on
November 12, 2015. She stated that Employee indicated on her application that she used sixty (60)
hours of annual leave and sixty (60) hours of sick leave. ‘

On February 2, 2016, Phillips stated that Agency received a return to work notice that was
signed by Dr. Rifka and dated November 30, 2015, indicating that Employee could be excused from
work from November 15, 2015 to December 1, 2015. After further review of the document, Phillips
testified that it appeared that there were other changes in the documentation that Employee
previously -provided to Agency. At this time, Phillips indicated that she thought that the
documentation was altered and requested a copy from the practice/office where Employee was
treated. Phillips stated she received a fax on February 9, 2016, from the office, and that she and her
supervisor, Gria Hernandez (“Hernandez”), compared that the documentation with that previously
submitted by Employee. Phillips testified that they discovered that Employee had redacted some of
the documentation about her medical condition and diagnosis. ’

On cross-examination, Phillips stated that when she processed Employee’s FMLA she had
only worked for Agency for two (2) months. She testified that ‘she most likely helped Employee
‘complete the necessary application form. She attested that she emailed Employee the forms needed
to submit her leave request. Phillips testified that the PFL and FMLA were the same application
forms. She explained that while she could not recall if Employee expressed to her that she did not
know how to fill out the forms, she would have assisted her in completing the forms.- Phillips was
unsure if Employee referred to PFL as Personal Family Leave. .

Phillips stated that when Employee initially submitted the form, she marked the box that said .
that she was caring for a’ family member. Subsequently, it was discovered that Employee was not
- caring for a family member, so Phillips marked through it with a pink line. Phillips confirmed that

Employee did not state that she needed surgery. She stated that the information that was put on the

original PFL form was not the same information that went on the FMLA form. Phillips admitted that

- she told Employee to make a change in the leave category because she was having the surgery.

Phillips explained that she asked Employee to submit her birth certificate to prove her relationship to

“her mother because at the time, Employee submitted a request for PFL. The FMLA was approved via

a letter dated November 12, 2015. Phillips explained that it was approved after Employee’s surgery

- on November 10, 2015, because she did not receive all documentation back prior to Employee taking

leave for surgery. She did not recall what information that was missing in order to process the
FMLA. ' :

On redirect, Phillips stated that Agency had five (5) business days to process PFL or FMLA
requests. She explained that four (4) business days transpired from November 2, 2015 and November
6, 2015, and explained that November 9, 2015, was the fifth business day. On November 9, 2015,
Phillips contacted Employee to inform her that there was a discrepancy with her form. That was -
when Phillips received the revised and completed application for FMLA. She stated that the letter
was approved on November 12, 2015. Phillips also testified that November 11, 2015, was Veteran’s
Day, a legal holiday; so she submitted and approved within two (2) days of receiving Employee’s
completed application. , : :

v,

Gria Hernandez (“Hernandeg”) Tr. 116-205

Gria Hemandez (“Hernandez”) testified that she has worked as a Human 'Capital
Administrator with Agency since January 2,.2012. Hernandez was responsible for all facets of
Human Resources (“HR”) benefits, labor relations, employee relations, and training. She stated that
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she was the final authorizer for PFL and FMLA requests. Hernandez explained that Phillips was the
HR specialist in her division, and received the applications for PFL, FMLA, and Americans with
Disabilities Act (“ADA™). She stated that Phillips verified and validated the applications and
presented it to her with the record. Hernandez affirmed that she worked closely with Phillips and
~ that she reviewed and signed off on the applications that were presented to her. Hernandez. stated
that the application forms could be found in their office or, if requested, emailed by Phillips.

Hernandez explained that PFL was a form of FMLA, but the benefit of PFL was to allow
employees of the District of Columbia to care for a loved one with a chronic illness or to spend time
with a newly placed foster or adopted child. She stated that an employee was entitled to receive up
to three hundred and twenty (320) hours of paid leave. ‘

Hernandez testified that she does not automatically process applications that come in for PFL
or FMLA. She testified that if someone requested PFL for the birth of a child, Agency might submit
the application in June, but the child may not be due until October, so there would be some time
lapse in the processing of the request. She explained that once the application was verified and
deemed valid, it was Phillips’ responsibility to send the required forms to payroll. Payroll would

subsequently load up to three hundred twenty hours onto the employee’s leave bank on PeopleSoft.

Hernandez testified that after reviewing Employee’s apphcatlon, it was not clear to her if
“Employee was providing care for her mother, or if she was going to be on leave for her own health
conditions. Hemandez explained that Phillips asked her to review Employee’s application.
Hernandez indicated that the answers given on the PFL form were from a fertility clinic. Hernandez
stated that she asked Phillips if she was sure that the application was for Employee’s mother or for
~ herself. Hernandez testified that she had Phillips contact the doctor’s office to confirm. The doctor’s
office informed Agency that Employee was receiving care and that it was not her mother. Hernandez
indicated that there was email correspondence exchanged between her, Employee, and Phillips with
regard to the documentation. Hernandez stated that Employee indicated in the November 6, 2015
email to Phillips that she was having surgery. Hernandez testified that she told Employee that she
could not use PFL for herself. .

On the form dated November 9, 2015, Employee requested time off from November 10
through December 10, 2015, for a personal health condition. She requested the use of sixty (60)
hours of annual leave and sixty (60) hours of sick leave. Hernandez stated that she allowed the .
November 2, 2015 PFL Form to be approved because Agency did not want to cause its employees a
hard time, especially if they were going through a serious health condition. She explained that if they
were able to be flexible, they would work with the employee becayse the PFL and FMLA were
‘essentially the same form and questions. Further, Hernandez stated that Employee indicated on the
form and in her email that she was having surgery on November 10, 2015.

Hernandez confirmed that the FMLA application was approved on November 12, 2015. She
stated that it was approved within two (2) business days and stated that Agency gcncra]ly has seven
(7) business days to approve an application. She testified that the approval letter stated that
Employee was required to provide a return to work note. Hernandez stated that Employee returned
to work on December 8, 2015. Hernandez testified that when the return to work note was brought to
her, it was clear that it was a copy and not an original note. Hernandez noticed that the number
“eight” was written in pen. Hemandez asked Phillips to contact the doctor’s office to confirm that
the note came from their office.
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Hernandez testified that Phillips contacted the doctor’s office to speak with Dr. Sarhan, but -
she was unavailable. - Hernandez indicated that when they reviewed the notice, she saw Dr. Rifka’s
name and realized that Drs. Rifka and Sarhan were part of the same practice. On February 10, 2016,
Hernandez received a copy of the return to work notice from Dr. Rifka that stated that Employee was
under his professional care and excused her from duty from November 10, 2015 through December
1, 2015. Hernandez indicated that the notice stated that Employee was to return to light duty on
December 1, 2015 and regular duty on December 15, 2015. Hernandez testified that the -
documentation previously received from the doctor’s office did not match this documentation that -
Employee submitted. :

Hernandez indicated that upon review, she prepared a supervisory record citing Employee’s
-abuse of FMLA and for altering the forms. Hernandez testified that on the first page, there was
language that had been redacted (white out) regarding Employee’s medical diagnosis. She also
stated that on page two of the form that Employee submitted, that it stated that she would be out from
November 10, 2015 through December 10, 2015. However, the form that was faxed over by the
doctor’s office stated that she would be out from November 10, 2015 until November 17, 2015.

Hernandez explained that the approved FMLA form indicated that Employee was granted
leave from November 10, 2015 to December 10, 2015. She stated that Agency relied on the
certification from the doctor that Employee provided to them. Hernandez stated that at the time of
Employee’s submission, she did not believe that the forms had been altered. Further, Hernandez
explained that “no” was circled for the question asking if Employee required care on an intermittent
or regular basis. However, the documentation that Employee provided clearly depicted a markup of
the word “no.” Hernandez posited that the word “no” had been changed to “yes”.  Hernandez ,
testified that on February 10, 2016, she received a copy of the return to work notice from Dr. Rifka.
That form stated that Employee was under Dr. Rifka’s professional care and that she was excused
~ from working from November 10, 2015 through December 1, 2015. The form also indicated that

- Employee was to return to light duty on December 1, 2015, and resume to regular duty on December
15, 2015. : '

Hernandez stated that she also scheduled a meéting with Employee regarding the forms. -
- Hernandez testified that during the investigation, Employee and her representative were recorded
during an interview that was held on February 10, 2016.

(The recording was played during Hernandez's testimony. The following reflects a summary
of the events from the February 10, 2016, recorded interview). On the recording, Hernandez stated
her name and asked Employee and her representative, Darnise Henry-Bush, to identify themselves.
Hernandez informed them that the purpose of the investigation was to discuss the documentation
submitted for FMLA. In addition, Jessica Gray, Legal Relations Specialist at the Department on
Disability Services, was present. During the investigation, Employee stated that she knew that
FMLA was Family Medical Leave Act. Employee also stated that she requested FMLA at the end of
October because she had a scheduled surgery. Employee submitted her forms to the HR department. -
Employee told Hernandez that there was an error because Phillips assumed that the request was for
‘her mother, but it was for Employee. Further, Employee explained to Hernandez that there was a
miscommunication because when Phillips contacted her doctor, Phillips asked the office for
information regarding her mother, and not her. Employee stated during the investigation/interview
that she filled out the FMLA form and her doctor completed his portion. Employee recalled filling -

out the document that was a certification of a health care provider for family member’s serious health -
condition. '
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On the recording of the interview, Hernandez explained that Employee stated her name and
indicated on the form that she was providing care for her mother. Employee told Hernandez that she
did not understand the form and thought that because she was having surgery, the form asked her to
provide an emergency contact. Thus, Employee provided her mother’s contact information because
she would be providing care for Employee after surgery. Employee stated that she did not know who
checked the box that said she was caring for a family member because she knew that she was the one
* having the surgery and not caring for a family member.

During the interview with Hemandez, Employee acknowledged that she requested one
hundred and sixty (160) hours of leave for November 10, 2015 through December 10, 2015.
Subsequently, Employee spoke with Phillips because she found out that her leave was not approved.
Philips asked Employee if her mother was having surgery and Employee told her that she was having
surgery. Phillips informed Employee that she would have to use her own annual and sick leave..
Employee explained that she emailed Phillips a note from her doctor that she was returning to work
early on December 7, 2015. ‘

During the same interview, Hernandez went over two forms with Employee, one form was
typed and the other was handwritten. Employee acknowledged that the forms were the same, but that
some of the information was missing off of the form that she submitted. She explained that her |
doctor allowed her to whiteout the personal details of her medical condition. Further, she explained
that she altered her return to work date from December 1, 2015 to December 8, 2015 because she
was not well enough to return to work and received verbal consent from her doctor to alter the date
on the return to work form. Employee also stated on the recording that she did not alter the forms

- that were sent to her doctor by Phillips. While Employee altered her return to work document, she
stated that she did not alter the document other than her personal diagnosis while she was out on
FMLA. (End of Summary of Recorded Interview)

After the interview, Hernandez testified that she contacted Employee’s doctor. She explained
that she had to contact two offices because although both doctors were in the same practice, they
were in different offices. Dr. Sarhan’s office completed the FMLA form and informed Hernandez
that they do not give patients permission to alter documents. Hernandez indicated that when they
contacted Dr. Rifka’s office, they did not indicate that they gave Employee permission to change the
form. The office informed Hernandez that they would fax over the documents that they had on file
for Employee. - ' A ‘

Hemandez testified that Agency charged Employee with adverse action that proposed a thirty
(30) day suspension. She stated that Employee received the March 7, 2016, advanced notice of
proposed thirty-day suspension and confirmed that she was the proposing official, and that Ms. -
Bonsack was the deciding official. Hernandez explained that Ms. Bonsack did not sustain all three
causes because she dismissed the Absent without Official Leave (“AWOQL”) charge. Hernandez
stated that she applied the February 2016 revised District Personnel Manual (“DPM”) in applying
Employee’s discipline because of the newly-adopted Table of Penalties®. Further, she explained that
if Employee was reviewed under the old DPM, the penalties would have been greater and she would
have proposed termination. ' :

_ _ On cross-examination, Hernandez opined that Employee lied because of her demeanor. She
explained that Employee looked surprised when she pointed out the difference between the faxed
documents that Agency received from Dr. Sarhan’s office and what was previously submitted by

* The newly adopted table is called the “Table of Illustrative Actions.”
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Employee. Further, Employee continued to look at her representative Ms. Henry-Bush for help

answering the questions and asked for a break to speak with her representative privately. Hernandez

testified that it was Employee’s responsibility to fill out her portion of the FMLA form. She stated
- that she made sure that Phillips explained what FMLA was when there was confusion with PFL.

- Deborah Bonsak (“Bonsack™) 7r. 207-220

Deborah Bonsack (“Bonsack™) worked as the Deputy Director for Administration for
Agency. She was also Hernandez’s supervisor. Bonsack testified that she was the deciding official
- in Employee’s case. She issued and signed the advance notice of proposed discipline. Before
- signing the May 5, 2016 Final Decision, Bonsack considered the attachments that ‘were-provided as _
part of the investigation. ' :

Bonsack testified that based upon her review of Employee’s return to work notice that
extended Employee’s leave until December 8, 2015, Bonsack decided that she would not sustain the
AWOL charge. However, she sustained the two allegations of false statements because it was
determined that Employee falsified information on an official record. She explained that Employee’s
conduct constituted a serious offense because she was entrusted with the distribution and decisions
regarding training, vocational rehabilitation and future funding. Bonsack stated that it was essential
to be able to trust Employee, and that falsifying any type of official documents caused concern
regarding Employee’s trustworthiness. '

Bonsack indicated that she did not recall if the 2012 Table of Penalties or the February 2016 -
Table of Illustrative Actions were used in selecting Employee’s penalty. She did list out the Douglas
Factors in order to determine what the penalty would be. Bonsack testified that after reviewing the
factors, although termination was an option, she believed that suspension was a reasonable
disciplinary measure under the circumstances. Bonsack stated that she believed that a thirty (30) day
suspension was severe enough to get Employee’s attention and correct the behavior so it would not
occur again. - : :

, On cmés—examination, Bonsack testified that she based her decision on the false statements
that were made by Employee and deemed falsifying documents to be a serious offense.

Employee’s Case-In-Chief

Dr. Safa Rifka (“Dr. Rifka”) Tr. 12-39

Dr. Safa Rifka (“Rifka”) is a physician at Columbia Fertility Associates. He testified that he
provided medical care to Charis Toney (“Employee”) and gave verbal consent/permission for her to
redact her personal diagnosis from the Family Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”) form in relation to her -
. procedure and to alter the return to work form.” He confirmed that Karen Toney was not his patient.

On cross-examination, Dr. Rifka stated that he filled out the FMLA form. Dr. Rifka further
stated that he wrote the original note excusing Employee from work from November 10, 2015
through December 8, 2015. He explained that Dr. Sarhan, his partner in the practice and Employee’s
surgeon, provided the return to work notice because it was customary for the surgeon to do so.
While Dr. Rifka did not provide the return to work notice, he stated that it was not unusual for the
original physician to also provide a return to work notice. '

Dr. Rifka testified that he could not recall the exact date that he gave Employee verbal
permission to alter the document that he signed which certified her time out of work as a result of her
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side effects from the surgery. Dr. Rifka explained that on November 30, 2015, he indicated that
Employee was able to return to light duty work on December 1, 2015, and released Employee to
perform regular activity on December 15, 2015. Dr. Rifka testified that the type of surgery
Employee underwent required between two (2) to four (4) weeks of recovery. He explained that after
November 30, 2015, Employee asked him to extend her time from December 1, 2015 to December 8,
2015, due to ongoing issues from the surgery. Dr. Rifka testified that he gave Employee verbal
permission to make that change on the form. Dr. Rifka testified that because Employee’s request was
still within the legal time frame for recovery from this type of procedure, he had no issue in
extending the time for the return to work. '

Dr. Rifka stated that he also allowed Employee to redact portions of the form in paragraph
three and Part A, “Medical Facts,” where it asks the doctor to describe other relevant medical facts
related to the condition where the patient needed care. In addition, Dr. Rifka testified that he gave
Employee verbal permission to redact anything private in nature that divulged the nature of her
disease. He explained that in his practice, he allows his patients to redact information that is in
violation of the privacy laws of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA™).
Dr. Rifka testified that he physically saw Employee in his office on November 24, 2015. He stated
that the next time he saw her in the office was in February 2016. Dr. Rifka explained that Employee
also visited the Bethesda office of the practice where she was treated by Dr. Sarhan, the surgeon who
performed the procedure. Dr. Rifka explained that Dr. Sarhan primarily works out of the Bethesda
office, while he is in the Washington, D.C. location of the practice.

Employee’s Position

Employee contends that she did not falsify any information in submitting. her documents for
FMLA. Employee maintains that she was confused with regard to the forms and that due to personal
cognitive challenges she didn’t understand all the requirements of the forms.* She indicated that on
several occasions she asked for assistance, and believed that what she provided to Ms. Phillips was
correct. Employee indicated that she received verbal permission from her doctor, Dr. Rifka, to alter .
the documents with regard to her medical diagnosis and also for the return to work form that she
submitted.” Employee contends that Dr. Rifka was her treating physician, while Dr. Sarhan only
completed the surgery. Employee asserts that she did no wrongdoing with regard to any of the forms
and believes that the thirty (30) day suspension was unwarranted.

Agency’s position

Agency asserts that it appropriately administered an adverse action in this matter. Agency
contends that with regard to preparation and submission of FMLA documentation, Employee made
(1) false statements, including misrepresentation, Jalsification, or concealment of material Jacts or
records in connection with an official matter, pursuant to Chapter 16 1605.4(b) (2); and (2) made
Jalse statements, including knowing and willfully reporting false and misleading information or
purposely omitting facts to any supervisor pursuant to Chapter 16 1605.4(f) (2).° Agency contends
that on September 24, 2015, Employee submitted a PFL form which indicated a need of 160 hours of
leave.’ On the form, the care was indicated for her mother, Karen Toney. On November 2, 2015,
Employee provided Section III from the treating surgeon, Dr. Abba Sarhan, which reflected a leave

4
s

Employee Petition For Appeal (June 8, 2016).

Employee Closing Arguments (December 1, 2017).

: Agency Closing Arguments (December 1, 2017).
Agency Answer at Tab 3 (July 8, 2016).
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time of November 10, 2015 through December 10, 2015.% Through a subsequent email thread on
November 6, 2015 through November 9, 2015 with Agency HR Specialist Rachel Phillips and HR
' Gria Hernandez, Agency determined that Employee was the actual recipient of leave for medical
care, and needed to fill out a FMLA form. On November 9, 2015, Employee submitted the DC
FMLA form. This form was signed by Agency HR Specialist, Rachel Phillips on November 12, 2015
and was subsequently approved.

Upon Employee’s return to work on December 9, 2015, Agency avers that its representatives
realized inconsistences with the documentation submitted by Employee, specifically that (1) dates
appeared to have been altered on a retun to work notice and that medical information had been
redacted (with white-out) Consequently, Agency contacted the Columbia Fertility Associates
(practice that provided care for Employee) directly for documentation related to Employee.
Materials received via fax on February 9, 2016, and February 10, 2016 were reviewed and were
found to be inconsistent with documents submitted by Employee. Specifically, Agency noted that
the November 2, 2015 document reflected Dr. Sarhan’s medical incapacity section indicated an
estimated date of November 10, 2017 through November 17, 2017 Further, Agency noted that the
November 30, 2015 return to work form received had a return to work date of December 1,2015.

- Following these events, Agency asserts that it began its investigative process. Agency avers
that Employee had redacted information in Section III, the dates for leave were November 10, 2015 _
through December 10, 2015, and the return to work date was December 8, 2015. Agency argued that -
it appeared Employee had used white out and had written over the date in altering these documents.
.Agency asserts that Employee maintained that she had some confusion in filling out the forms, and
claimed that she received verbal consent from her doctor to alter the forms. Following the
investigation, Agency proposed suspension for a total of thirty days’, charging employee with two
charges of false statements pursuant to DPM §1605.4(b)(2) and §1605.4(b)(4), and unauthorized
absence of five workdays or more, pursuant DPM §1605.4()(2). In a Final Agency Action dated
May 5, 2016, the hearing officer sustained the two charges of false statement but dismissed the
AWOL charge because of receipt of return to work dated February 29, 2016. The hearing officer
- noted that she was unpersuaded by Employee’s claim that she had receives verbal consent to alter the
- forms. ‘As a result, Agency suspended Employee for two (2) fifteen (15) day periods to be served
consecutively, effective May 31, 2016, ' ,

- Agency avers that it considered all the relevant Douglas factors in making its determination .
with regard to assessing the penalty in this matter. Agency also contends that it appropriately utilized
the DPM Chapter 16 (“2016 DPM”) that was made effective February 5, 2016 (versus the DPM that
was effective as of July 13, 2012, hereinafter noted as “2012 DPM”), because in this instance, they
were not aware of the misconduct until the DPM 2016 was effectuated and also because the
bargaining unit (ASFMCE) that Employee was a part of had already engaged in impacts and effects
bargaining.'' However, Agency notes that if OEA disagrees and finds that the incorrect version was

'rd
® Thirty days were comprised of two fifteen day suspensions to be served wmuﬁwly.
::’ Employee’s Petition for Appeal at Final Agency Notice (June 8, 2017). : )
Ag.ency’s Closing Arguments at Page 17. (December 1, 2017). It should be noted that Agency in making this argument
. pmvxded no subsequent documentation, the CBA or otherwise, that would substantiate this assertion. Rather, Agencyreliedon
the testimony provided by Ms. Gria Hernandez during the Evidentiary Hearing on October 17, 2017.
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used (which it does not conceded) that it would result in harmless procedural error since the penalty
range would be the same.'?

FINDING OF FACTS. ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

. Employee is employed by Agency as Vocational Rehabilitation Specialist, with the DDS
Rehabilitation Services Administration (“RSA™)." In a final agency action notice referred to as the
“Final Decision on the Proposed Suspension of 30 Days”, dated May 5, 2016, Employee received
final notice of Agency’s decision to suspend her without pay for a total of thirty (30) days (two
* fifteen day suspensions to be served consecutively) from her position for violation of Chapter 16 of -
DPM §1605.4(b)(2)—"False statements, including: misrepresentation, falsification, or concealment
of material facts or records in connection with an official matter; (2) DPM § 1605.4 (b)(4) - “False
statements, including: knowingly and willfully reporting false or misleading information or
purpols“ely omitting material facts to any superior.” The effective date of the suspension was May 31,
2016." . :

ANALYSIS

Appropriate Version of DPM

In an Order dated March 13, 2017, the undersigned required the parties to address whether
Agency, in administering the adverse action against Employee utilized the appropriate version of the
District Personnel Manual (“DPM”) in administering the instant adverse action. Specifically, parties
were to address whether the DPM Chapter 16 version effective as of August 2012" or February
2016'® should be applicable to this action. Employee proffered that Agency did not use the
appropriate code version. Employee asserted that Agency used the rules punitively and did not use
the “correct choice in the cause of action.”” :

" Agency asserted that its adverse action was properly guided by and assessed under the
February 2016 (“2016 DPM™) version of DPM Chapter 16. Agency argued that its assessment was
done appropriately under the 2016 DPM citing that, “notwithstariding the general rule that a statute
should not be applied retroactively absent clear legislative intent, the Agency applied the 2016
version of DPM Chapter 16 in these circumstances because the latest version of the regulations did
not change the legal consequences of Employee’s various behaviors between September 2015 and
February 2016.”™ Further, the Agency cites that they “were not even aware of the misconduct for -
which adverse action was taken until on or after February 9, 2016, and the adverse action was .
initiated by Agency after the regulations became effective.” Additionally, Agency argues that, “DDS
applied the correct version of the District Personnel Manuel Chapter 16 effective, February 6, 2016,
in recommending and taking corrective action because Ms. Toney is a member of the collective
bargaining unit (“AFSCME?”) that had already engaged in impacts and effects bargaining.”!? Further,

12 Id

13 Employee’s Petition for Appeal (June 8, 2016).

" Employee was also charged with violating DPM § 1605.4(f) (2) - “Unauthorized absence of five (5) workdays or more.”
However, the hearing officer rescinded that charge in the final action.

15 DPM Chapter 16 effective July 13, 2012, as reflected by the August 26, 2012, Transmittal Date.

1 DPM Chapter 16 effective February 5, 2016, as reflected by the February 26, 2016 Transmittal Date

17 Employee’s Legal Brief (April 10, 2017).

18 Agency’s Supplemental Brief at Page 4 (March 27, 2017).

19. Agency Closing Arguments at Page 17 (December 1, 2017).




OEA Matter No. 1601-0053-16
Page 12 of 16

Agency contends that Employee’s “affirmative” conduct that resulted in the instant adverse action
took place between September 2015 and December 2015.%

Agency asserts that the “balance of the affirmative conduct”, occurred after the effective date
(February 5, 2016) for the 2016 DPM.#'  Agency also avers that they were not aware of Employee’s
misconduct until they found discrepancies in documentation submitted by Employee following a
facsimile communication received from Employee’s treating physician on February 9, 2016.
Consequently, Agency argues that it did not provide its Notice of Proposed Adverse action until

: March 6, 2016, and the final decision was not delivered to Employee until May 5, 2016. As a result,
Agency argues that under these circumstances it was appropriate to use the 2016 DPM version in
administering this adverse action. Lastly, Agency argues that assuming arguendo that they did -
utilize the incorrect version of the DPM (which it does not concede that they did) in administering
the instant adverse action that procedurally, the application of either version of DPM Chapter 16

.would have resulted in the same adverse action and would constitute harmless procedural error.”? .

The District Personnel Manual regulates the manner in which agencies in the District of
Columbia administer adverse and corrective actions. The 2012 DPM version was effective as of July
13, 2012,” and was effective until the 2016 DPM version was made effective on February 5, 2016.%
Consistent with the findings of the U.S. Supreme Court, OEA has held that there is a presumption in
which the “legal effect of one’s conduct should be assessed under the law that existed when the
conduct took place.”?® Further, OEA has noted that “the presumption against statutory retroactivity
has consistently been explained by a reference to the unfairness of imposing new burdens on people
after the fact.””® Here, Agency recognized upon Employee’s return to work on December 9, 2015,
that there were potential discrepancies in FMLA documentation submitted by Employee. Agency
does not provide any reasoning as to why it was not until February 9, 2016, that subsequent
documentation was requested from the treating physicians’ office to confirm their suspicions. A
subsequent investigative interview was held on February 11, 2016, wherein Agency maintains that
Employee submitted false statements as well. The undersigned finds that upon review of the record
Agericy improperly used the 2016 DPM given that it was not made effective until February 5, 2016.
The actions for which Employee was charged occurred in September 2015 through December 2015,

with only one additional instance during a period of investigation in which false statements were
alleged. , .

However, given that the Table of Penalties (2012 DPM)? and the Table Illustrative Actions
(DPM 2016)** reflect the same range for penalties for this cause of action, I find that Agency’s error
constituted harmless procedural error pursuant to OEA Rule 631.3. The range of penalties for these
causes of action in comparing the 2012 DPM Table of Appropriate Penalties (“TAP”) and the 2016
DPM Table of Hlustrative Actions (“TIA”), reflect similar penalty ranges. Under TAP, a first offense

~  Agency’s Supplemental Brief at Page (March 27, 2017).

21 Id at Page 6. : : :
2 Agency Supplemental Legal Brief at Page 4 and 8, citing Recio v. DC Alcoholic Beverage Control Bd., 75 A.2d 136, 140 (D.C.
2013); and Montgomery c. District of Columbia, 598 A.2d 163,166 (D.C: 1991). (March 27, 2017).

B Transmittal Date reflects as of August 27, 2012 for the 2012 DPM Version, and the 2016 Transmittal Date is as of February 26,
2016.

%13

. ® Dana Brown v. Department of Youth Rehabilitation Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0036-07 Opinion and Order on felition
;;or Review (March 10, 2010).
Id

27 6-B DCMR §1619.1 (6), Table of Appropriate Penalties (2015).
. DPM §1607.2(b) (2016)
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for violation of DPM §1603.3(c), and DPM §1603.3(f) (6)° both range of Suspension for 15 Days.*
The penalty in the TIA reflects that a first occurrence for false statements in connection DPM §
1605.4(b)(2), is reprimand to removal, and for §1605.4(b)(4), the range is a seven day (7) suspension
to removal. Wherefore, the undersigned finds that Agency’s assessment of the fifteen (15) day
penalty for each charge fell into the range of penalties under both versions of the DPM.. Thus, the
undersigns find that while Agency improperly utilized the 2016 DPM given that misconduct occurred
at the time the 2012 DPM was effective, that this error did not cause “substantial harm or prejudice”
to Employee, and did not affect its final decision to take action in the instant matter.

Whether Agency had cause for adverse action

Title 1, Chapter 6, Subéhapter V1 of the D.C. Official Code (2001), a portion of the
Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act, sets forth the law governing this Office. D.C. Official Code §
1-606.03 reads in pertinent part as follows:

(a) An employee may appeal a final agency decision affecting a
performance rating which results in removal of the employee
(pursuant to subchapter XIII-A of this chapter), an adverse action for
cause that results in removal, reduction in force (pursuant to
subchapter XXIV of this chapter), reduction in grade, placement on
enforced leave, or suspension for 10 days or more (pursuant to
subchapter XVI-A of this chapter) to the Office upon the record and
pursuant to other rules and regulations which the Office may issue.
(Emphasis added). :

Additionally, DPM § 1603.2 provides that disciplinary actions may only be taken for cause.
Pursuant to OEA Rule 628.2, 59 DCR 2129 (March 16, 2012), Agency has the burden of proof by a
preponderance of the evidence that the proposed disciplinary action was taken for cause. Employee . .
was assessed two (2) fifteen days suspensions pursuant to: DPM § 1605.4(b)(2) — “False statements,
including misrepresentation, falsification, or concealment of material facts or records in connection
with an official matter.”; and DPM 1605.2(f)(2) —“False statements, including knowing and willfully
reporting false and misleading information or purposely omitting facts to any supervisor.”

4 Charge 1- DPM § 1605.4(b) (2) — “False statements, including misrepresentation, falsification,
or concealment of material facts or records in connection with an official matter.”

OEA has held, that to sustain a falsification charge, that “agency must prove by preponderanf
evidence that employee knowingly su{aplied incorrect information with the intention of defrauding,
deceiving or misleading the agency.’! In sustaining the aforementioned charge upon Employee,

- ® DPM §1603.3(c)y— “Any knowing or negligent material misrepresentation on other document given to government agency;
DPM §1603.3(f) (6) — Any on-duty or employment-related act or omission that interfere with the efficiency and integrity of

government — misfeasance.” Misfeasance, as described by the DPM includes: careless work performance, failure to investigate a
complaint, providing misleading or inaccurate information to superiors; dishonesty; unauthorized uses of government resources;
using or authorizing the use of government resources for other than official business. The undersighed relies on this comparison
g’f the DPM because Agency relied on these causes of actions in its Supplement Brief submitted on March 27, 2017.
" 6-B DCMR §1619.1 (6), Table of Appropriate Penalties (2015). : ' .

John J. Barbudsin v Department of General Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0077-15 (March 1, 2017), citing Haebe v.
Department of Justice, 288 F.3d 1288 (Fed. Cir. 2002); Guerrero v. Department of Veteran Affairs, 105 M.SP.R. 617 (2007);
See also Raymond v. Department of the Army, 34 M.S.P.R. 476 (1987). ‘ '
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Agency considered and was ultimately “unpersuaded”, with “Employee’s assertion that she had
verbal permission to alter the parts of FMLA form or return to work notice.”*> Agency determined
that the charge should be sustained because of Employee’s admittance of “whiting out” and changing
the forms on two (2) previous occasions.”®> However, during the Evidentiary Hearing held in this
matter on October 17, 2017, Dr. Safa. Rifka, Employee’s physician, corroborated Employee’s
assertions, as he confirmed that he provided Employee with verbal consent to extend her return to
work until December 8, 2015; and that he gave permission to redact any items that may violate
Employee’s privacy protections.* Without going into the personal and private nature of Employee’s
condition, the doctor explained that the type of procedure Employee underwent could result in up to
four (4) weeks of recovery time.”> Further, Dr. Rifka explained that any patient had the right to
redact any information of a private nature and that he gave verbal permission to Employee to redact

private information. '

During the course of the Evidentiary Hearing, I had the opportunity to listen to the testimony
“provided by Dr. Rifka and found his testimony to be credible. Further, the undersigned finds- it
significant that Agency rescinded the charge of AWOL once it received confirmation in February
2016 that Employee’s return to work date was in fact extended until December 8, 2015.37 The
undersigned finds that this also supports Employee’s claim that she had verbal permission to alter the
return to work form to reflect December 8, 2015. In assessing this adverse action, Agency .
maintained it was unpersuaded by Employee’s claims of having received verbal consent from her
physician. Upon consideration of the aforementioned findings and the documentary and testimonial
evidence set forth in the record, I find that Agency has not met its burden of proof by a
preponderance of evidence with regard to this cause of action.

Charge 2 -DPM 1605.2(f) (2) ~“False statements, including knowingly and willfully reporting -
false and misleading informzition or purposely omitting facts to any supervisor.”

In considering this cause of action, Agency again attested that it was unpersuaded by
Employee’s assertion that she received verbal consent to alter the documents. Specifically, Agency
~ cited that Employee provided false statements to Ms. Hernandez, during the course of the internal
investigation. Agency noted that this charge was distinguished with regard to the changes made in
the “medical incapacity” section of the form. Agency found that Employee changed the document
that was signed by Dr. Sarhan (surgeon) on November 2, 2015. In particular, Agency cited that the
- document received on February 9, 2016 from Dr. Sarhan reflected the estimated medical incapacity
as November 10, 2015 through November 17, 2015. Employee’s submissions of these same
documents contained a medical incapacity date of November 10, 2015, through December 10, 2015.
Upon consideration of the record, the undersigned finds that there is not substantive evidence to
support Employee’s claim that she was given the verbal consent to change the medical incapacity -
date in the forms. Further, the medical incapacity listed in the documentation submitted by Employee
in November 2015, does not correspond with the medical record that bears the same signature date
(November 2, 2015) that was received by fax directly from the office on February 9, 2016.
Consequently, the undersigned finds that Agency has met its burden by preponderant evidence and’
has adequately proven that there was cause for action with regard to this charge.

: Agency Answer at Page 8 (July 8, 2016).
Id :
“ See. Evidentiary Hearing Transcript (Tr.) held October 17, 2017 at Pages 13, 22-37.
% Id. at page 26.
~ % Id. at Page 30 :

Received in accordance with directive in Final agency Action and was signed by the surgeon, Dr, Abba Sarhan,

37
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Whether the Penalty was Appropriate

Based on the aforementioned findings, I find that Agency’s action with regard to the charge
of false statements pursuant to DPM 1605.2(f) (2) —“False statements, including knowingly and
willfully reporting false and misleading information or purposely omitting facts to any supervisor”
was taken for cause, and as such Agency can rely on this charge in its assessment of disciplinary
actions against Employee. In determining the appropriateness of an agency’s penalty, OEA has
relied on Stokes v. District of Columbia, 502 A.2d. 1006 (D.C. 1985).3 According to the Court in
Stokes, OEA must determine whether the penalty was in the range allowed by law, regulation and
any applicable Table of Penalties as prescribed in DPM 1619.1; whether the penalty is based on a
.consideration of relevant factors and whether there is a clear error of judgment by agency. Further,
“the primary responsibility for managing and disciplining Agency’s work force is a matter entrusted
to the Agency, not this Office.”® Therefore when assessing the appropriateness of a penalty, this
Office is not to substitute its judgment for that of the Agency, but is simply to ensure that
“managerial discretion has been legitimately invoked and properly exercise.”

Agency relied on what it considered relevant factors outlined in Douglas v. Veterans
Administration, 5 M.S.P.R. 313 (1981), in reaching its decision to suspend Employee from service.*!
Further, Chapter 16 § 1607.1(b)(2)(4) of the District Personnel Manual Table of Hlustrative Actions

** Shairrmaine Chittams v. D.C. Department of Motor Vehicles, OEA Matter No. 1601-0385-10 (March 22, 2013). See also
Anthony Payne v. D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0054-01, Opinion and Order on Petition Sfor
Review (May 23, 2008); Dana Washington v.D.C. Department.of Corrections, OEA Matter No. 1601-0006-06, Opinion and
Order on Petition for Review (April 3, 2009); Ernest Taylor v. D.C. Emergency Medical Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0101-
02, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (July 21, 2007); Larry Corbett v. D.C. Department of Corrections, OEA Matter
No. 1601-0211-98, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (September 5, 2007); Monica Fenton v. D.C. Public Schools, OEA
Matter No. 1601-0013-05, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (April 3, 2009); Robert Atcheson v. D.C. Metropolitan
Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0055-06, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review (October 25, 2010); and
Christopher Scurlock v. Alcoholic Beverage Regulation Administration, OEA Matter No. 1601-0055-09, Opinion and Order on
Petition for Review (October 3, 2011).
% See Huntley v. Metropolitan Police Department, OEA Matter No. 1601-0111-91, Opinion and Order on Petition for Review
(March 18, 1994); Hutchinson v. District of Columbia Fire Department, OEA Matter no, 1601-01 19-90, Opinion and Order on
Petition for Review (July.2, 1994). .
** Stokes v. District of Columbia, 502 A.2d 1006 (D.C. 1985). :
“'Douglas v. Veterans Administration, 5 M.S.P.R. 313 (1981). The Douglas factors provide that an agency should consider the
following when determining the penalty of adverse action matters: '
1) the nature and seriousness of the offense, and it’s relation to the employee’s duties,. position, and responsibilities °
including whether the offense was intentional or technical or inadvertent, or was committed maliciously or for gain, or
was frequently repeated; : .
2) the employee’s job level and type of employment, including supervisory or fiduciary role, contacts with the public, and
) prominence of the position; . :
3) the employee's past disciplinary record; . '
4)  the employec’s past work record, including length of service, performance on the job, ability to get along with fellow
workers, and dependability; ’ ' o
5) the effect of the offense upon the employee’s ability to perform at a satisfactory level and its effect upon supervisors®
confidence in employee’s ability to perform assigned duties; _ : '
6) consistency of the penalty with those imposed upon other employees for the same-or similar offenses;
7) consistency of the penalty with any applicable agency table of penalties;
8) the notoriety of the offense or its impact upon the reputation of the agency;
9). the clarity with which the employee was on notice of any rules that were violated in committing the offense, or had
been warned about the conduct in question; :
10) potential for the employee’s rehabilitation; . '
11) mitigating circumstances surrounding the offense such as unusual job tensions, personality problems, mental
. impairment, harassment, or bad faith, malice or provocation on the part of others involved in the matter; and
12) the adequacy and effectiveness of alternative sanctions to deter such conduct in the future by the employee or others.

1
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(“TIA”) provides that the appropriate penalty for a first occurrence for a charge of violating DPM
1604.5(b)(4) ranges from “7-day Suspension to Removal.”** Wherefore, the undersigned finds that
Agency properly exercised its discretion and its chosen penalty of a fifteen (15) suspensxon is
reasonable under the circumstances and not a clear error of judgement.

With regard to the false statements charge pursuant to DPM §1605.4(b)(2); the undersigned
finds, for the reasons previously cited, that Agency did not meet its burden to establish a cause for
adverse action for “False statements, including misrepresentation, falsification, or concealment of
material facts or records in connection with an official matter.” As a result, I find that the penalty of
the fifteen (15) day suspension was not appropriate. Consequently, I conclude that Agency’s action
should be upheld, in part, and reversed in part. )

ORDER
Based on the foregoing it is hcreby ORDERED that:

. Agency’s. actlon of suspending Employee from service for fifteen (15) days with
regard to Charge 2 is hereby UPHELD. :

2. Agency’s action of suspending Employee from service for fifteen (15) days with -
regard to Charge 1 is hereby REVERSED; and Agency shall reimburse employee all
pay and benefits lost as a result of this suspension.

3. Agency shall file within thirty (30) days from the date this decision becomes final,
documents evidencing compliance with the terms of this Order.

FOR THE OFFICE:

Administrative Judge

)
Table of Nustrative Actions 2016. It should be noted that under the 2012 DPM Table of Appropriate Penalties (“TAP™), the
penalty for this cause of action on a first offense is Suspension for 15 days see Chapter 16 §1619.1. >

- _ - .



NOTICE OF APPEALS RIGHTS .

'This is an Initial Decision that will become a final decision of the Office of
Employee Appeals unless either party to this proceeding files a Petition for Review
with the office. A Petition for Review must be filed within thirty-five (35)
calendar days, including hohdays and weekends, of the issuance date of the Initial
Decision in the case. _

All Pet1t10ns for Review must set forth objections to the Inmal Decision and
establish that:

1. New and material 'evidenoe is available that, despite due diligence, was
not available when the record was closed;

2. The vdecision of the presiding official is based on an erroneous
.mterpretatlon of statute, regulation, or policy; '

3. The ﬁndmg of the pres1dmg official are not based on substantial
evidence; or

4. The Initial Decision did not address all the issues of law and fact properly
raised in the appeal.

All Petitions for Review should be supported by references to apphcable
laws or regulations and make specific reference to the record. The Petition for
Review, containing a certificafe of service, must be filed with Administrative
Assistant, D.C. Office of Employee Appeals 955 L’Enfant Plaza Suite 2500,
Washington, D.C. 20024. Four (4) copies of the Petition for Review must be filed.
Parties wishing to respond to a Petition for Review may file their response within
thirty-five (35) calendar days, including holidays and weekends, after the filing of
the Petition for Review.

Instead of filing a Petition for Review with the Ofﬁce either party may file a
Petition for Review in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. To file a
Petition for Review with the Superior Court, the petitioning party should consult
Superior Court Civil Procedure Rules, XV. Agency Review, Rule 1. .
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Washington, DC 20024.

Katrina Hill
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024

Respondents.

CIVIL DIVISION
In the matter of: )
)
PHILLIPPA MEZILE, )
2020 12th Street, NW, Apt. 416 )
- Washington, DC 20009 )
)
Petitioner, )
) : s
) 2 =
D.C. DEPARTMENT ON DISABILITY SERVICES, ) 3?: =3
250 E Street, SW ' ) m}f B
Washington, DC 20024 ) A
) To =
ey
and ) £
D.C. OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS ) hadl
)
)
)
)
)

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF AGENCY DECISION

Notice is hereby given that Petitioner Phillippa Mezile (“Petitioner Mezile”), by and
through counsel, appeals to the Superior Court of the District of Columbia from the District of
Columbia Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA”) Board Opinion and Order on Petition for
Review issued on the 22nd day of March, 2018. A copy of the Order sought to be reviewed is
attached to this petition as Exhibit A.

Petitioner Mezile worked as a Public Affairs Specialist with the Department on Disability
Services (the “Agency™), and the Agency informed Petitioner Mezile that her position was being
abolished as a result of a Reduction-in-Force (“RIF”) on May 12, 2009. -Ex. A at 1. Petitioner

Mezile filed a Petition for Review with the D.C. Office of Employee Appeals (“OEA”), a.fgt:jng

1

A3AI303¥



that the RIF violated District of Columbia laws, including by failing to provide her with the
requisite thirty-day written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF. Id. The OEA dismissed
the Petition for Review, and Petitioner Mezile filed a Petition for Review with the D.C. Superior
Court on June 3, 2010. Id at2. The D.C. Superior Court found that the OEA’s findings lacked
substantial evidence. Specifically, the OEA failed to make a required finding supported by
substantial evidence regarding whether Petitioner Mezile received thirty days’ notice, whether
the general RIF statute, § 1-624.02 or the Abolishment Act, § 1-624.08 applied to the RIF, and
whether Petitioner Mezile had raised non-frivolous allegations challenging the RIF, including
whether the RIF was a sham. Accordingly, the matter was remanded to the OEA for further
consideration. Id at 2-3. In an Initial Decision on Remand issued on October 10, 2012, the
OEA found'that Petitioner Mezile did not receive thirty days’ notice of her termination pursuant
to a RIF in violation of D.C. Code § 1-624.08 and ordered the Agency reimburse her for four
days’ of back pay and benefits, totaling $1,807.46, as a result of the Agency’s failure to provide
the stai:utorily mandated notice. Id. at 4. On November 14, 2016, Petitioner Mezile filed a
Request for Compliance with the Initial Decision on Remand. Id. On January 6, 2017, the OEA
issued an Addendum Decision on Compliance finding that the Agency had complied with the
Initial Decision on Remand. /d. at 5.

Petitioner Mezile filed a Petition for Attorney’s Fees and Cosfs with the OEA on
February 6, 2017, which requested attorney’s fees on behalf of Petitioner Mezile, as the
prevailing party. Jd. The amount requested consisted of attorneys’ fees for this office to perform
legal work before the OEA and the D.C. Superior Court, including efforts to collect the funds
owed to Petitioner Mezile. Id The OEA issued an Addendum Decision on Attorney’s Fees on

June 14, 2017, denying Petitioner’s request for attorneys’ fees and holding that Petitioner Mezile



only obtained a minimal amount of success and that the requested attorneys’ fees were
unreasonable and unwarranted in the interest of justice. Id. at 6. Petitioner Mezile filed a
Petition for Review of Addendum Decision on Attorney’s Fees with the OEA Board on July 19,
2017. Id. The OEA Board upheld the Addendum Decision denying Petitioner Mezile’s request
for attorneys’ fees and finding that although Petitioner Mezile was the prevailing party, she
received a limited degree of success and an award of attorneys’ fees was unwarranted in the
interest of justice. Id. at 12.

Petitioner Mezile hereby files this Petition fqr Review of the OEA Board’s March 22,
2018 Opinion and Order on Petition for Review, denying her petition for attorneys" fees, deépite

finding that she was the prevailing party.

Address of Respondent Agencies or Officials:

D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
‘Washington, DC 20024

D.C. Department on Disability Services
250 E Street, SW
‘Washington, DC 20024

Names and addresses of parties or attorneys to be served:

Andrea Comentale, Esq.

Section Chief ‘
Personnel and Labor Relations Section
441 4th Street, NW, Suite 1180N
Washington, DC 20001

Karl A. Racine

Office of the Attorney General
441 4th Street, NW, Suite 1100S
Washington, D.C. 20001

Sheree L. Price, Chair



D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
1100 4th St SW, Suite 620 East
Washington, DC 20024-4451

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ David A. Branch

David A. Branch, DC Bar # 438764

Law Office of David A. Branch and
Associates, PLLC

1828 L Street, NW, Suite 820

Washington, D.C. 20036

(202) 785.2805 phone

(202) 785.0289 fax

davidbranch@dbranchlaw.com




CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 18th day of April 2018 a copy of the foregoing was served on

the following by first-class mail:

Karl A. Racine

Office of the Attorney General
441 4th Street, NW, Suite 1100S
Washington, D.C. 20001

Sheree L. Price, Chair

D.C. Office of Employee Appeals
955 L’Enfant Plaza, SW, Suite 2500
Washington, DC 20024

Andrea Comentale, Esq.

Section Chief

Personnel and Labor Relations Section
441 4th Street, NW, Suite 1180N
Washington, DC 20001

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ David A. Branch
David A. Branch
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Notice: This decision may be formally revised before it is published in the District of Columbia
Register and the Office of Employee Appeals’ website. Parties should promptly notify the
Office Manager of any formal errors so that this Office can correct them before publishing the
decision. This notice is not intended to provide an opportunity for a substantive challenge to the
decision.

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
BEFORE

THE OFFICE OF EMPLOYEE APPEALS

" In the Matter of: )
)
PHILLIPPA MEZILE, ) OEA Matter No. 2401-0158-09R12AF17
Employee ' )
)
\ ) Date of Issunance: March 22, 2018
) .
DEPARTMENT ON )
DISABILITY SERVICES, )
Agency )
D)
OPINION AND ORDER
' ON
PETITION FOR REVIEW

Phillippa Mezile (“Employee™ worked as a Public Affairs Specialist with the
Department on Disability Services (“Agency’). On May 12, 2009, Agency informed Empioyee’
that her position was being abolished as a result of a Reduction-in-Force (f‘RIF’;). The effective
date of the RIF was June 12, 2009. Employee filed a Petition for Appeal with the Office éf
Employee Appeals (“OEA™) on Jﬁly 10, 2009. She argued, inter alia, that the RIF violated
District of Columbia laws and that Agency failed to provide her with the requisite thirty-day
written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF.! In.i1s answer, Agency denied Employee’s

claims and provided that her position was abolished because of a shortage of funds for the 2010

fiscal year. Agency also contended that its RIF action complied with all applicable laws, rules,

! Petition for Appeal (July 10, 200).
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and regulations.”

The OEA Admjzﬁstrati;re Judge (“AJ”’) assigned to the matter held a prehearing
conference on March 24, 20103 The parties were subsequently ordered to submit briefs
addressing whether Agency’s RIF action should be upheld. The AJ issued an Initial Decisioﬂ on
April 2, 2010. He first noted that Agency issued an Administrative Order on April 23, 2009,
stating that several positions were ideﬁtiﬁed for abo]ishment as a result of realignment and a
shortage of funds for the 2010 fiscal year. Next, the AJ stated that D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08
Was the aﬁplicable RIF statute and that Employee was limited to contesting whether she was
afforded one round of lateral competition and whether Agency provided her with thirty days’ |
written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF. Lastly, the AJ dismissed Employee’s
collateral arguments relating to discrimination and pre-RIF conditions. Consequently, Agency’s |
RIF action was upheld.*

Employee disagreed with the AJ and filed a Petition for Review in D.C. Superior Court
on June 3, 2010. In her appeal, Employee_ argued that the AJ’s finding that she received thirty
days’ written notice was not based on substantial evidence; the AJ failed to address her claim
that the RIF was conducted under D.C. Official Code § 1-624.02, rather than D.C. Official Code
§ 1-624.08; the AJ failed to properly consider her argument that Agency viqlated the RIF
procedures; and the AJ failed to discuss whether the RIF was a sham because it was conducted
for discriminatory reasons. In its Order, the Court agreed with the AJ’s conclusion that OEA was
the wrong vemue for a&judicating Employee’s discrimination claims. However, the Court
provided that the AJ should have made a finding pertinent to Employee’s claim that the RIF

action was a “sham” based on her arguments that were unrelated to discrimination. Accordingly,

% Agency’s Answer to Petition for Appeal (August 13, 2009).
? Order Scheduling a Prehearing Conference (February 25, 2010).
* Initial Decision (April 2, 2010).
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the matter was remanded to the AJ for fl\thher consideration.’

The AJ held a status conference; on March 23, 2012. He subsequently issued an Initial
Decision on Remand on October 10, 2012. With respect to the appropriate statute to utilize in
conducting the RIF, the AJ stated that although Agency authorized the RIF pursuant to D.C.
Official Code § 1-624.02, D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08 was the more _applicable statute in this
case. In‘ support thereof, he highlighted the holding in Washington Teachers’ Union, Local #6 ».
District of Columbia Public Schools, 960 A.2d 1123 (D.C. 2008), in which the D.C. Court of
Appeals stated that a RIF conducted for budgetary reasons triggered the Abolishmént Act instead
of the nérmal RIF procedures enumerated in § 1-624.02. The Abolishment Act created a more
streamlined process for conducing RIFs during times of fiscal emergencies. Accordingly, the AJ
concluded that the instant RIF was conducted as a result of budgetary resﬁ'aints and that D.C.
Official Code § 1-624.08 was the appropriate statute to utilize in this case.

With respect to the lateral competition requirement, the AJ stated that OEA has
conéistenﬂy held that when an employee.holds the only positiovn in her competitive level, D.C.
Official Code § 1-624.08(e) is inapplicable. Thus, Agency was not required to afford Employee
with one round of lateral competition because she was the sole Public Affairs Specialist, DS- -
1035-13-01-N, in her competitive level. The AJ dismissed Employee’s claims that there was not
a Mayoral Order which authorized and approved the RIF. He further categorized Employee’s
" other arguments as “bare allegations” that were void of supporting proof. Additionally, the AJ
opined that an evidentiary hearing was unwarranted to validate the truthﬁﬂness of Agency’s
" statements pertaining to its need to conduct a RIF.

Regarding the notice requirement, the AJ provided that Title 5, Section 1506 of the D.C.

Municipal Regulations (“DCMR?”) states that employees selected for separation from service

5 Mezilev. D.C. Department on Disability Services, 2010 CA 004111 P(MPA) (D.C. Super. Ct. February 2, 2012).‘
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shall be given specific written notice at least thirty days prior to the effective date of se_,paration.
Moreover, he notéd thaf D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08(e) requires an agency to provide affected
employees with thirty days’ written notice prior to the effective date of the RIF. In this case,
Employee admitted to receiving Agency’s RIF notice on May 18, 2009. The notice reflected an
effective date of June 12, 2009. Accordingly, both the AJ and tﬁe parties conceded that
Employee only received twenty-six days’ nqtice prior to the effective date of the RIF. Citing |
District Personnel Manual (“DPM™) § 2405.6, the AJ found that Agency’s failure to provide,
Employee with adequate notice was considered a procedural error and that reirbactive
reinstatement was not appropriate under the circumstances. Therefore, the AJ determined that the
RIF was conducted in accordance with D.C. Official Code § 1-624.08. However, he ordered
Agency to reimburse Employee for four days’ of back pay and benefits as a result of Agency’s
notice error.® |

On November 14, 2016, Employee, without the assistance of her attorney, filed a Re.aquest
for Compliance with Initial Decision on Remand. Employee requested that the AJ order Agency
reimburse her with back pay and benefits for four days, as required in the Initial Decision on
Remand.” In its respons;e, Agency stated that it forwarded to the District of Columbia Office of
Pay and Retirement Services (“OPRS”) a request to issue Employee a check in the amount of
$1,807.46, less any applicable federal and District tax withholdings. It provided that the request
would be processed and that a check was expected to be issued and mailed to Employee within

two to three weeks. Thus, Agency maintained that it had taken all of the necessary steps to

§ Initial Decision (October 10, 2012). Employee appealed to D.C. Superior .Court a second time; however, her
appeal was denied. Employee then filed an appeal with the D.C. Court of Appeals, who affirmed OEA'’s Initial
Decision on Remand. See Mezile v. D.C. Department of Disability Services, 117 A.3d 1042 (D.C. 2015).

7 Reguest for Compliance with Initial Decision on Remand (November 11, 2016).’
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comply with the Initial Decision on Remand.® On January 6, 2017, the AJ issued an Addendum
Decision on Compliance. He stated that Agency complied with the Initial Decision on Remand
" and Employee’s motion for comphance was dismissed.” ?

Thereafter, Employee filed a Petition for Attorney’s Fees and Costs with OEA on
February 6, 2017. In her petition, Employee requested $48,347.50 in attorney’s fees and $100 in
costs. The amount included legal work performed by Attorney David A. Branch before OEA,
D.C. Superior Court, and efforts to collect the funds owéd to Employee.10 Agency’s response to
the motion argued that an a;wa.rd of attorney’s fees was not appropriate because Employee was
not the prevailing party in this matter. It further reasoned that an award of fees was not warranted
in the interest of justice. Therefore, Agency asserted that Employee’s request was without merit
and requested that the AJ deny her motion.'!

The AJ issued an Addendum Decision on Attorney’s Fees on June 14, 2017. He first
highlighted the holding in Zervas v. District of Columbia Office of Personnel, OEA Matter No.
1602-0138-88AF92 (May 14, 1993), which held that that the initial criterion for fee eligibility is
that the émployee be the prevailing party on the final decision on the merits of the case. The AJ
aléo noted that the U.S. Supreme Court in Farrar v. Hobby, 113 S. Ct. 566 (1992), held that a
plaintiff prevails “when the .actual relief on the merits of his claim materially alters the legai
relationship between parties by mod.lfymg the defendant’s behavior in a way that directly
benefits the plaintiff.” According to the AJ, the relief that Employée sought was the reversal of

Agency’s RIF action; reinstatement to her previous position of record; and back pay and

® Agency’s Response to Employee’s Request for Compliance (December 12, 2016). On January 4, 2017, Agency
filed with OEA a Report on Compliance, stating that a check was issued to Employee on December 13, 2016, in the
after-tax amount of $1,153.43. Agency attached a copy of the paystub to its submission.
% Addendum Decision on Compliance (January 6, 2017).
10 Emplayee s Petition for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (February 6,2017).

1 4gency’s Final Response to Employee’s Petition for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs (March 31, 2017).
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benefits. While Employee did not receive the total relief that she sought bec:'ause Agency’s RIF
action was ultimately upheld, she did receive an award of four days’ worth of back pay and
benefits because of Agency’s failure to provide adequate notice of the RIF. Thus, the AJ opined
" that Employee obtained “an actual, if nominal, relief on the merit[s] of her clairi that she wes not
given the full thirty-day notice required by Ia\.;v.” He further stated that Agency’s failure to
comply with the notice requirements altered the legal relationship between the parties because
Employee received some form of direct benefit.
. With respect to whether the payment of attorney’s fees was warranted in the interest of
justice, the AJ again referenced the holding in Farrar, which recognized that “the degree of the
plaintiff’s overall success goes to the success the reasonablen_ess of the fee award.” He concluded
that Empléyee only obtained a minimal amount of success because she received compensation
for four days’ worth of back pay instead of a reversal of the RIF. Considering that Employee
requested attorney’s fees and costs in the amount ;)f $48.347.50 after obtaining an award of
| 'approximately $1,800, the AJ opined thet a fee award was unreasonable and unwarranted in the
- interest of justice. Therefore, her petition for attorney’s fees was denied.’?
Employee subsequently filed a Petition for Review of Addendum Decision on Attorney’s
Fees with the OEA Board on July 19, 2017. Employee argues that the AJ erred in finding that
she was not entitled to any attorney’s fees for appealing the April 2, 2010 Initial Decision to D.C.
Superior Court. She also contends that the AJ failed to show special circumstances which would
make an award of fees unjust and opines that the case law relied upon by the AJ in rendering his
decision is misplaced. Additionally, Employee sta;tes that the AJ incorrectly characterized her
recovery of $1,807.46 in back pay as nominal damages to justify the refusal of attomey’s fees.

According to Employee, the fees requested are reasonable and exclude fees incurred in appealing

2 4ddendum Decision on Compliance (January 6, 2017).
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this matter to the D.C. Court of Appeals. As a result, she requests that OEA’s Board grant her
Petition for Review and order Agency to pay fees and costs in the amount of $48,347.50."

In response, Agency submits that the AJ corrécﬂy determined that that an award of
attorney’s fees to Employee was not warranted in the interest of justice. Agency states that it did
nét engage in a: prohibited personnel practice and that its RIF action was conducted in good faith.
It further reasons that the amount of Employee’s fee request is unreaéonable in comparisbn to the-
amount of baék pay she actually received. Finally, Agency states that the statutory language of
D.C. Official Code § 1-606.08 makes the award of attorney’s fees discretionary, not mandatory.
Consequently, it asks this Board to deny Employee’s Petition for Review.'*

Substantial Evidence

On Petition for Review, this Board must determine whether the AJ’s findings were based
on substantial evidence in the record. The Court of Appeals in Baumgartner v. Police and
Firemen’s Retirement and Relief Board, 527 A.2d 313 (DC 1987), held that if administrative
findings are supported by substantial evidence, then it ;Jaust be accei:ted even if there is

substantial evidence in the record to support a contrary finding. Substantial evidence is defined
as evidence that a reasonable mind could accept as adequate to support a .conclus.ibn.ls Under
OEA Rule 628.1, the burden of proof with regard to material issues of fact shall be by a
preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence shall méan “that degree of
relevant evidence which a reasonable mind, considering the record as a whole, would accept as

sufficient to find a contested fact more probably true than untrue.

© Petition for Review of Addendum Decision on Attorney Fees (Tuly 19, 2017)

4 Agency’s Response to Employee’s Petition for Review (August 23, 2017),

BMills v. District of Columbia Department of Employment Services, 838 A.2d 325 (D.C. 2003) and Black v. District
of Columbia Department of Employment Services, 801 A.2d 983 (D.C. 2002). )
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Prevailing Party

D.C. Official Code § 1-606.08 provides that an OEA Administrative Judge “...may
require payment by the agency of reasonable attorney fees if the appellant is the prevailing party
and payﬁmt is warranted in the interest of justice.”’® OEA has previously relied on its ruling in
Zervas supra and the Merit Systems Protection Board’s (“MSBP”) holding in Hodnick v.
Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service, 4 M.S.P.R. 371 (1980), which held that “for an
employee to be a prevailing party, he must obtain all or a significant part of the relief
sought....”!’ However, thé holding in Hodnick was overruled by the MSPB in Ray v. Départment
of Health and Human Services, 64 M.S.P.R. 100 (1994). In Ray, the MSPB adopted the U.S.
Supreme Court’s holding in Farrar v. Hobby, 506 U.S. 103 (1992), for the purpose of
determining the prevailing party within the context of the Civil Service Reform Act of 1978:
Pursuant to the standard established in Ray, “...to qualify as a prevailing party, a...plaintiff must
obtain at least some relief on the merits of his claim. The plaintiff must obtain an enforceable
judgment against the defendant from whom fees are sought...or comparable relief through a
consent decree or settlement.” Further, in Settlemire v. D.C. Office of Employee Appeals, 898
A.2d 902 (D.C. 2006), the DC Court of Appeals noted that “[g]enerally speaking the term
‘prevailing party’ is understood to mean a party ‘who has been awarded some reliéf by the court’
(or otlier tribunal)....”!8 |

In this case, Employee did not receive the original relief she requested in her Petition for

Appeal,'which was the reversal of the RIF and reinstatement to her previous position with back

16 See OEA Rule 634.

17 See also Edwards v. Department of Youth and Rehabilitation Services, OEA Matter No. 1601-0017-06AF-10
(December 17, 2012); Ross v. Office of Contracting and Procurement, OEA Matter No. 2401-0133-09R11AF14
(September 20, 2014); Fogle v.. D.C. Public Schools, OEA Matter No. 2401-0123-04-AF10 (March 21, 2011); and
Bey v. Department of Parks and Recreation, OEA Matter No. 1601-0118-02AF0R (September 14, 2009).

'8 See also Texas State Teachers Association v. Garland Independent School District, 489 U.S. 782, 109 S.Ct. 1486,
103 L.Ed.2d 866 (1989) (holding that the prevailing party need only “succeed on any issue in the litigation which
“achieves some of the benefit he sought in bringing the action.”
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pay and benefits. However, Agency committed a procedural error by virtue of its non-
compliance with D.C. Official Code §1-624.08(e) because it did not provide Employee with
thirty days® written hoﬁce of the RIF. As a result, Employee was entitled to a judgment of four
days in back pay and benefits, totaling approximately $1,800. While this is not the full amount of
recovery that Employee would have been entitled to if she prevailed on the substantive merits of
her arguments, she was nonetheless successful on at least one of her clalms Accordingly, under
‘ the holdings in Farrar and Ray, Employee is considered the prevailiﬁg’ party in this matter,
Therefore, we will not disturb the AJ’s niling regarding such.
Interest of Justice
The central issue presented to this Board is whether there is substantial evidence to
support the AJ’s conclusion that the award of attorney’s fees was unwarranted in the interest of
jﬁstice. To determine whether a fee award is merited, OEA relies on Allen v. United States Postal
Service, 2 M.SP.R. 420 (1980), in which the MSPB provided circumstances to serve as
“directional markers towards the ‘interest of jlistice,’ a destination which, at best, can only be
approximate.” The circumstances that should be considered are:
1. Whether the agency engaged in a “prohibited personnel practice;”
2. Whether the agency’s action was “clearly without merit” or was
“wholly unfounded”, or the employee is “substantially innocent”
of the charges brought by the agency;

3. Whether the agency initiated the action against the employee in
“bad faith,” including:

a. Where the agency’s action was brought to “harass” the
employes;

b. Where the agency’s action was brought to “exert pressure
on the employee to act in certain ways™;
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4. Whether the agency committed a “gross procedural error” which
“prolonged the proceeding” or “severely prejudiced the
employee”; '

5. Whether the agency “knew or should have known that it would not
prevail on the merits,” when it brought the proceeding. '

The U.S. Supreme Court in Hensley v. Eckerhart, 461 U.S. 424 (1983), held that the most
critical factor in determining the reasonableness of an attorney’s fee award is the degree of
success obtained, since a requested fee bésed on the hours expended on the litigation as 'a whole
may be deemed excessive if a plaintiff achieves only partial or limited success. In cases where a
party is only partially successful, the trial court must exercise its discretion to determine ‘what
amount of fees, if any, should be awarded.”® Hence, the determination that an employee is the
prevailing party “may say little about whether the expenditure of counsel’s time was reasonable
in relation to the success achieved.””! In Shore v. Groom Law Grp., 877 A.2d 86 (D.C. 2005),
the D.C. Court of Appeals' determined that the denial of an attorney’s fee request was apﬁropriate
when the plaintiff was only successful on one of her eight claims against a former employee and
received limited relief as a result. Accordingly, it is possibie for a plaintiff to establish prevailing
party staﬁs and not receive an award of attorney’s fees. |

- This Board finds that the AJ did not abuse his discretion in denying Employee’s petition”
for <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>